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I.  PRESENTATION  
 
A) Summary of Financial Information Related to Period: 
 

Summary of Balance Sheet    

(Thousand TL)    

 31/12/11 31/12/10 Change % 
    

Cash and balances with central bank       243,385 55,261  340% 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 54,132 96,869 (44%) 

Due from banks      18,903           73,346 (74%) 

Money market placements                  --                     --                  - 

Financial assets available for sale 15,844  14   113,071% 

Loans and advances to customers 2,106,677 640,000  229% 

Investments in associates --  --  - 

Derivative assets held for hedging purposes --                     --  - 

Bank premises and equipment 11,663 6,743  73% 

Intangible assets 6,074 2,044  197% 

Deferred tax assets 20,472 22,798 (10%) 

Asset Held For Sale And Assets Of Discontinued 
Operations (Net) 6,270 

               
1,883  233% 

Other assets 3,329 3,281  1% 

Total Assets    2,486,749          902,239  176% 

    

Deposits 2,050,505 750,268  173% 

Derivative liabilities held for trading 16,315 23,543 (31%) 

Bank borrowings 29,756 2,574  1,056% 

Interbank money markets 6,831  --  - 

Miscellaneous payables 105,796 935  11,215% 

Other external resources 12,343 5,546  123% 

Derivative liabilities held for hedging purposes --  --  - 

Provisions 25,938 10,021  159% 

Taxes payable 6,012 2,024  197% 

Shareholder's equity 233,253 107,328  117% 

Total Liabilities    2,486,749          902,239  176% 
 
 
Summary of Income Statement    

(Thousand TL)    

 
31/12/11 31/12/10 Change % 

    
Interest Income 168,442 71,577  135% 
Interest Expense 98,002 38,494  155% 
Net Interest Income 70,440 33,083  113% 
Net Fees and Comission Income 12,029 4,548  164% 
Trading Income 5,160 (9,045) 157% 
Other Operational Income 3,368 4,256 -21% 
Total Operational Income 90,997 32,842  177% 
Provision for loans and other receivables 18,248 2,631  594% 
Other Operational Expenses 64,808 45,723  42% 
Income from operational activities 7,941 (15,512) >100% 
Income before tax 7,941 (15,512) >100% 
Provision for taxes (2,754) 870 >100% 
Net Loss/Profit from ordinary activities 5,187 (14,642) >100% 
Net Profit/Loss 5,187 (14,642) >100% 
 
 



B) The History of the Bank and amendments of the Articles of Association with reasons: 
 
1) Due to the decision nr. 379 dated 09.07.2001 of the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency 
and the third part of the article 14 of the Banks Act, the Management and Supervision of Sitebank 
A.Ş. had been transferred to the  Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency. 
 
2) The shares of Sitebank A.Ş. which was under the scope of the Savings Deposit and Insurance 
Fund had been saled to Novabank with an agreement signed by the Banking Regulation and 
Supervision Agency on 21.12.2001. 
 
3) The transfer operation of shares of Sitebank A.Ş. had been proceeded and accomplished with the 
letter of the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency nr. 860 / 94 dated 22.11.2002 and the 
resolution of the Board of Directors of Sitebank A.Ş. nr. 972 dated 24.01.2002.  
 
4) Sitebank A.Ş. convened an extraordinary general assembly in 25.01.2002 and appointed the 
Board of Directors with this first General Assembly after the purchase of shares by Novabank S.A. 
 
5) Sitebank A.Ş. increased his Capital from TL 3,900,000 to 20,000,000 and amended the article 
seven of his Articles of Association in the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting in 14.05.2002. 
 
6) Sitebank A.Ş. convened and decided to increase the number of members of the Board of Directors 
to seven in the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting in 03.06.2002. 
 
7) Sitebank A.Ş. amended his Business Title as “BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş.” and his Enterprise name 
as “ BankEuropa” in the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting in 04.03.2003. 
 
8) BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. increased his Capital from TL 20,000,000 to TL 50,401,874 and 
amended the article seven of his Articles of Association in the Extraordinary General Assembly 
Meeting in 20.06.2003. 
 
9) BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. increased his Capital from TL 50,401,874 to TL 77,351,429 and 
amended the article seven of his Articles of Association in the Extraordinary General Assembly 
Meeting in 29.06.2004. 
 
10) BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. composed  his  new Board of Directors  with the election  of new 
members for three years for the  replacement of  the Board of Directors which their term of duties 
ended in the Ordinary General Assembly relating with the year 2004 in 07.03.2005. 
 
11) BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. approved the transfer of shares of BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. from 
Novabank S.A. to  BCP Internacional II Sociedade Unipessoal SGPS LDA, based on the permission 
of the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency dated 07.02.2006 and numbered BDDK.UY1 / 
55.1.02-1010, at the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting convened on 24.02.2006 concerning the 
year 2005. 
 
12) BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. increased its capital from TL 77,351,429 to TL 108,433,429 and 
amended the article seven (7) of its Articles of Association, namely “Capital” in the Extraordinary 
General Assembly Meeting convened on 13.03.2006. 
 
13) BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş.  amended its Title as “Millennium Bank A.Ş.” and  enterprise name as  
“Millennium Bank” and amended the third (3) article of its Articles of Association, namely “Business 
Title and Enterprise Name” in the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting convened on 28.11.2006. 
 
14) Millennium Bank A.Ş. increased its capital from TL 108,433,429 to TL 163,791,316 and amended 
the article seven (7) of its Articles of Association, namely “Capital” in the Extraordinary General 
Assembly Meeting convened on 21.12.2006. 
 
15) Millennium Bank A.Ş. increased its capital from TL 163,791,316 to TL 202,535,316 and amended 
the article seven (7) of its Articles of Association, namely “Capital” in the Extraordinary General 
Assembly Meeting convened on 18.06.2008. 
 
16) Article 19 (nineteen) named “Representation of the Bank” and Article 25 (twenty five) named 
“Qualifications of the General Manager and Assistant General Managers” of the Bank’s Articles of 



Association are amended in the Ordinary General Assembly convened on 16.03.2010 pursuant to the 
Banking Law numbered 5411. 
 
17) The transfer of 192,408,550,200 shares corresponding to 95 % of the total shares of our Bank, 
registered in the name of Millennium bcp Participaçöes, SGPS, Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda 
(Previously BCP Internacional II, Sociedade Unipessoal SGPS Lda), to Credit Europe Bank N.V. is 
approved in the Extra Ordinary General Assembly meeting of Millennium Bank A.Ş. convened on 
27.12.2010, as per the approval of Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency dated 13.12.2010 
numbered B.02.1.BDK.0.11.00.00.55.1-25726. 
 
18) Millennium Bank A.Ş. increased its capital from TL 202,535,316 to TL 325,000,000 and amended 
the article seven (7) of its Articles of Association, namely “Capital” in the Extraordinary General 
Assembly Meeting convened on 21.03.2011. 
 
19) Millennium Bank A.Ş. amended its business title as Fibabanka Anonim Şirketi and enterprise 
name as Fibabanka and amended the article seven (3) of its Articles of Association, namely 
“Business Title and Enterprise Name” in the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting convened on 
25.04.2011.  
 
20) Fibabanka A.Ş. amended the sub paragraph (c) of article four (4), namely, “Purpose and Subject” 
and Article 8 (eight) namely, “Issue of Shares” of its Articles of Association for the purpose of issuing 
bank bills and other financial instruments in the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting convened 
on 15.09.2011. 
  
C) The Composition of the Capital, changes in the Capital and shareholder structure : 
 
1) The Composition of the Capital 
 

Title  Share Amount (TL) Percentage (%) 

 
Credit Europe Bank N.V. 

 
314,873,231  0.96884071077% 

Millennium bcp Participaçöes, SGPS, Sociedade 
Unipessoal, Lda (Eski unvanı, BCP Internacional II, 
Sociedade Unipessoal SGPS Lda.)   

 
 
10,126,766  0.03115928000% 

Fiba Holding A.Ş.  
1  0.00000000308% 

Fiba Faktoring A.Ş.  
1  0.00000000308% 

Girişim Varlık Yönetimi A.Ş.  
1  0.00000000308% 

Total  
325.000.000 

 
100% 

  
2) Changes in the Capital 
 
Fibabanka A.Ş. increased its capital from TL 202,535,316 to TL 325.000.000 in the Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting convened on 21.03.2011. Value of one nominal share is determined as TL 0,01 (1 
Kuruş). 
 
3) Alterations in Shareholders Structure  
 
(i) As per the share transfers that rendered on 01.02.2011, Tezcan Yaramancı, Manuel 

D’Almeida Marecos Duarte, Rui Pedro da Conceicão Coimbra Fernandes, Joao Manuel 
Rodrigues Tome Da Cunha Martins, Antonios Mouzas, Rui Nelson Moreira de Carvalho 
Maximino were transferred total of 21 shares of themselves to Millennium bcp Participaçöes, 
SGPS, Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda (BCP Internacional II, Sociedade Unipessoal SGPS Lda.) 

 
(ii) As per the share transfers that rendered on 01.02.2011, Credit Europe Bank N.V. were 

transferred total of 3000 (three thousand) shares, as 1000 (one thousand) shares to Fiba 
Holding A.Ş., 1000 (one thousand) shares to Fiba Faktoring Hizmetleri A.Ş. and 1000 (one 
thousand) shares to Girişim Varlık Yönetimi A.Ş. Folowing determination the value of one 
nominal share as TL 0,01 (1 Kuruş), the total number of the transferred shares is 300 (three 
hundred).  



 
D) Explanations concerning the shares of the Chairman and members of the Board of 
Directors, General manager and Assistant General Managers : 
 
 

The Board of Directors and the General Manager 
 
Name and Surname 
 

Duty 

Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin Chairman  

Fevzi Bozer Vice Chairman 

Faik Onur Umut Member 

Mehmet Güleşci Member 

Enver Murat Başbay Member 

M. Erhan Polat Member 

Bekir Dildar Member - General Manager 

 
The chairman, vice chairman and the members of the Board of Directors, and the general manager 
and assistant general managers do not have any shares in the capital structure of the Bank.  
 
E) Evaluation on the Operating Period and Future Anticipations of the Chairman of the Board 
and the General Manager:  
 
 
In 2011, the anxiety caused by the accelerating sovereign debt crisis in Europe, the course of the 
financial policies and the ongoing negotiations of the federal budget in the United States as well as 
the economic uncertainties fueled by the hesitation of the political actors to take fast decisions 
addressing the global problems had a negative impact on the financial markets. The downgrade of 
primary countries of Europe by credit rating institutions in the beginning of 2012 can be seen as a 
signal that downward pressures in the global economy will continue.  
 
While growth forecasts for developed economies are successively revised downward, situation in 
emerging economies is rather positive. It is foreseen that the emerging countries will be the 
locomotive for growth in world economy, and Turkey, which is being appreciated in recent years for 
its high growth trend and performance, will maintain its importance in this picture. On the other hand, 
it is seen that the negative effect of recession in European economies and the diminishing financing 
means in foreign markets may expose risk for Turkey in 2012.  
 
In this challenging global conjuncture, our Bank’s new management has first aimed to restructure the 
Bank’s organization in 2011, and as a result, quickly get a robust and profit-generating structure, and 
has undersigned very important and deep-rooted changes.        
 
In this context, our Bank has first changed its title in 2011, and Bank’s new title has been made fully 
identified with Fiba Group identity, aiming to raise awareness about the Bank. Migration to a new 
Headquarters building to respond to the needs of a growing organization has been completed. Our 
Bank has targeted to settle corporate governance principles in line with both the local legislation and 
international best practices, and within this context, significant steps have been taken both 
organizationally and structurally. In addition, in order to support the growth of the Bank and also 
increase its efficiency, necessary organizational arrangements are made in all departments to 
develop and train human resources and also create new teams. 
 
Number of employees of our Bank, which was 292 as of year end 2010, has increased to 438 as of 
year end-2011 with the new employees who joined us during the restructuring process. In line with 
the Bank’s target to improve the operational and technological infrastructure, the project to change 
“Core Banking System” of the Bank was completed successfully.  Number of branches of our Bank 
which was 18 (eighteen) as year end 2010, has increased to 21 (twenty one) in 2011 with the new 
branches opened in Istanbul 2 (two) and 1 (one) in Antalya. 
 
Our Bank has both completed the said comprehensive structural changes and investments in 2011, 
and also shown very high growth performance financially, leaving behind a profitable and successful 
year. 
 



Bank’s total assets have increased by 176% compared to year end 2010, to TL 2.5 billion. In 2011, 
operations were predominantly in corporate, commercial and SME banking. Loan portfolio, which was 
TL 640 million as at year end 2010, has increased by 229% in 2011 to TL 2.1 billion. Customer 
deposits, Bank’s most important funding source, have increased by 217% from TL 635.6 million from 
year end 2010 to TL 2 billion as at year end 2011. To support growth, capital was increased by a total 
of TL 224 million in 2011, and after obtaining official permits, Bank’s paid-in capital was increased to 
TL 426 million in January 2012. As a result of such developments, the Bank has achieved a pre-tax 
profit of TL 7,9 million, and  TL 5,2 million after-tax  profit in 2011. 
 
Our Bank will proceed with customer-oriented growth in 2012. In this regard, initial forward-looking 
target is to boost the number of customers in all business lines and to offer cross-selling products to 
our customers.  
 
Within this context, we aim to diversify corporate, commercial and SME portfolios, and also to 
improve our relationships with our customers in certain products.  
 
In retail banking, our main goal will be to expand our customer base in deposits, and offer cross-
selling products to our customers, and offer new products in retail banking via our renewed Core 
Banking System, and also offer faster and more efficient services.  
 
Hereby, we thank to our valuable employees who work in our Bank with devotion and who will be the 
main architect of our success in 2012, and to our valuable partners and esteemed customers who 
supported our Bank.  
 
 
 

Faithfully, 
 
Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin      Bekir Dildar    
Chairman of the Board       General Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



F) Disclosures on Personnel and Branch Number, Bank’s Service Type and Fields of Activity, 
and Evaluation of the Position of the Bank in the Industry based on these: 

 
As of year end 2011, we have 21 (twenty one) branches and 438 (four hundred and thirty eight) 
personnel. 
 
In 2011, our activities were predominantly in corporate, commercial and SME banking. Cash loans 
granted to business enterprises which was TL 313 million as of year end 2010 has increased by 
483% in 2011 to TL 1.825 million. Non-cash loans have increased in 2011 by almost 200% reaching 
approximately to TL 230 million. 
 
Due to need arising as a result of the growing loan volume and increasing number of customers, 
“Cash Management Department” was established in September 2011. Along with Bank’s increasing 
clearance check volume, international transactions, time and demand deposit volume, banking 
commission revenues have increased.  
 
Along with our Bank’s operations in corporate and commercial segments, “Financial Institutions 
Department” has been established in June 2011 in order to be more active in foreign trade 
transactions, and establish and develop relationships with foreign banks. By this means, the Bank 
aims to expand its correspondent network and access to financing means of foreign markets where 
necessary in the future. 
 
In retail banking, we have emphasized system infrastructure works, which we believe will take our 
service quality to higher levels. It was one of our most important goals in 2011 to further improve our 
relationships with existing customers and contact new customers. 
 
Our Bank operates in retail banking segment with the concept of one-to-one service in order to offer 
our audience with the products and services related to all their financial needs, predominantly the 
investment products. In this direction, we have taken steps to diversify our products and services and 
create cross-sale opportunities. 
 
In line with our customer-oriented banking concept, we have proceeded with our services towards 
higher income group, and within this context, we have set up “Private Banking Department” in 2011. 
Our aim is to maximize customer satisfaction through special services offered to that group. 
 
Also, last year besides marketing current mutual funds, our Bank has applied to the Capital Markets 
Board for the establishment of new mutual funds. 
 
As a result of the breakthroughs in 2011, our Bank’s market share has tripled compared to 2010 in 
both loans and deposits. 
 
G) Information about research and development application of new services and activities:  
 
Since the Bank has begun its operations in the sector, its main objective has always been to provide 
right solutions to its clients through a higher quality service. We continue various research and 
improvment practices about providing new products and services in order to meet our customer’s 
saving and financial needs. In this aspect, branch and customer expectations were monitored 
carefully  and necessary actions were taken immediately. 
 



H) Annual Report Compliance Opinion: 

 
 

 
ANNUAL REPORT COMPLIANCE OPINION 

 
(Convenience Translation of the Annual Report Compliance Opinion 

Originally Prepared and Issued in Turkish) 
 
 
 
We have audited the accuracy and compliance of the financial information in the accompanying 
annual report of Fibabanka Anonim Şirketi with the audit report issued as of December 31, 
2011. The Board of Directors of the Bank is responsible for the annual report.  
 
As independent auditors, our responsibility is to express an opinion on the audited annual 
report based on the compliance of financial information provided in the annual report with the 
audited financial statements and explanatory notes. Our audit was performed in accordance 
with the accounting standards and principles and procedures of preparing and issuing annual 
reports as set out by the Banking Act No: 5411. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual report is free from 
material misstatement. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
In our opinion, the financial information provided in the accompanying annual report presents 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Fibabanka Anonim Şirketi as of 
December 31, 2011 in accordance with the prevailing accounting principles and standards set 
out as per the Article 40 of the Banking Act No: 5411. The financial information provided in the 
annual report is in compliance with the audited financial statements and explanatory notes, and 
also includes the summary Management report and our audit opinion on these financial 
statements. 
 
 
 
DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş. 

Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED 

 
 
 
Hasan Kılıç 
Partner 
İstanbul, February 27, 2012 



II. MANAGEMENT AND INFORMATION REGARDING CORPORATE MANAGEMENT 
APPLICATIONS 

 
A) Information regarding the names, surnames, assignment terms, responsibility areas, 

education, professional experience of the Board of Directors, General Manager, 
Assistant General Managers, members of the Audit Committee and the directors of 
the units under internal systems: 
 

Name Title 
Date of 
Appointment 

Education 
Professional 
Experience 

Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin Chairman 27 December 2010 Graduate 37 years 

Fevzi Bozer Deputy Chairman 27 December 2010 Graduate 29 years  

Faik Onur Umut Board Member 27 December 2010 Undergraduate 26 years 

Mehmet Güleşci Board Member 27 December 2010 Graduate 28 years 

M.Erhan Polat Board Member 27 December 2010 Undergraduate 37 years 

Enver Murat Başbay Board Member 27 December 2010 Undergraduate 20 years 

Bekir Dildar* 
Board Member and General 
Manager 

27 December 2010 Undergraduate 24 years 

Elif Alsev Utku Özbey** Assistant General Manager 07 January 2011 Graduate 17 years 

Ahmet İlerigelen** Assistant General Manager 07 January 2011 Graduate 28 years 

Ali Murat Dinç** Assistant General Manager 07 January 2011 Graduate 15 years 

Adem Aykın Assistant General Manager 01 July 2011 Undergraduate 23 years 

Esra Osmanağaoğlu Coordinator 01 June 2011 Undergraduate 23 years 

Asiye Bilun Önder 
Internal Control Department 
Head 

01 July 2004 Undergraduate 14 years 

Ayşe Tulgar 
Risk Management 
Department Head 

15 March 2011 Undergraduate 13 years 

Ahmet Cemil Borucu 
Internal Audit  
Department Head 

07 February 2011 Graduate 14 years 

Serdal Yıldırım 
Legislation and Compliance 
Department Head 

06 April 2011 Graduate 15 years 

 
* Bekir Dildar has been elected as Board Member in the Extraordinary General Assembly dated 27 December 2010, 
following the approval of Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency he has been assigned as General Manager as 
of 07 January 2011.  
 
** Notifications were sent to Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency for the assignments of Elif Alsev Utku 
Özbey, Ahmet İlerigelen ve Ali Murat Dinç as Assistant General Manager on 27 December 2010 and following the 
approval they have been assigned as Assistant General Manager as of 07 January 2011. 

 
 



CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
Hüsnü Mustafa ÖZYEĞİN – Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Mr.Özyeğin who was born in 1944, holds Master of Business Administration degree from Harvard 
Business School following his graduation from Robert College and Oregon State University/Civil 
Engineering Department respectively. He was the Board Member and General Manager of 
Pamukbank T.A.Ş. during 1974-1984 while he was Deputy Chairman of Yapı ve Kredi Bank A.Ş. 
between the years 1984 and 1987. Afterwards in 1987 he founded Finansbank A.Ş. He was the 
Chairman and General Manager of the Bank until 1989 and he continued his duty as the Chairman 
until 2010. He serves as the Chairman of Fiba Holding A.Ş. since 1989. He is Chairman of the Board 
of Directors and Alternate Member of Credit Committee of Fibabanka A.Ş. since December 27, 2010. 
 
Fevzi BOZER – Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Mr.Bozer who was born in 1955, holds Master of Business Administration degree from Roosevelt 
University following his graduation from TED Ankara College and Indiana University/Business 
Administration Department respectively. He worked at Citibank between the years 1984 and 1988 
then he joined Finansbank as branch manager in 1988. He served as the General Manager during 
1991-1993 in Finansbank (Suisse) S.A. (Credit Europe Bank S.A.) where he was appointed in 1990 
and during 1995 and 1999 in Finansbank A.Ş. where he was appointed in 1993. He continued his 
duty as the Executive Board Member between the years 1999 and 2006. Since 1997, he has been 
the Board Member of Fiba Group's international banks and Fiba Holding A.Ş. He is Deputy Chairman 
of the Board of Directors and Audit Committee Member of Fibabanka A.Ş. since December 27, 2010. 
 
Faik Onur UMUT - Board Member 
Mr. Umut who was born in 1962, after completing his education in SanktGeorg Austria High School 
and Boğaziçi University Industrial Engineering Department respectively, worked in a company in 
England during 1985-1986 and in Iktisat Bank A.Ş. during 1986-1988. He joined Fiba Group in 1988. 
After holding various positions in Finansbank A.Ş. between the years 1988 and 1995, he worked as 
the General Manager in Finansbank Holland N.V. (Credit Europe Bank N.V.) during 1996- 1999 and 
in Finansbank A.Ş. during 1999-2003. He was the Executive Board Member of Finansbank A.Ş. 
between the years 2003 and 2006. He serves as the Board Member of Fiba Group's international 
banks and Fiba Holding A.Ş. since 2004. He is member of the Board of Directors and the Audit 
Committee of Fibabanka A.Ş. since December 27, 2010. 
 
Mehmet GÜLEŞCİ - Board Member  
Mr. Güleşci who was born in 1962, holds Master of Business Administration degree from Boğaziçi 
University following his graduation from Kabatas Boys' High School and Boğaziçi University/Business 
Administration Department respectively. He worked in Ernst & Young during 1984-1996, then joined 
Finansbank in 1997 as the Assistant General Manager and served as the Executive Board Member 
until 2009. Since 2009 he serves as the Chief Financial Officer of the Fiba Group and is the board 
member of the Group’s financial and non-financial investments both domestic and international. He is 
member of the Board of Directors and Alternate Member of Credit Committee of Fibabanka A.Ş. since 
December 27, 2010. 
 
Enver Murat BAŞBAY - Board Member 
Mr. Başbay who was born in 1968, after completing his education in Galatasaray Lycee and Boğaziçi 
University/Business Administration Department, worked in Arthur Andersen Audit Company during 
1992 – 1997. In 1997 he participated to Fiba Group and until 1998 he served as the Chief Financial 
Officer in Finansbank Ltd Russia. He also worked as the Chief Financial Officer and Board Member of 
Finansbank Holland N.V. during 1998 – 2005. Lastly, he executed the duty of General Manager in 
Credit Europe Bank Ltd. Russia between the years 2005 and 2010. He serves as General Manager in 
Credit Europe Bank NV since 2010. He is member of the Board of Directors and the Credit 
Committee of Fibabanka A.Ş. since December 27, 2010. 
 
M.Erhan POLAT – Board Member  
Mr. Polat who was born in 1948, has started his banking career in 1972 at Yapı ve Kredi Bank A.Ş. 
following his graduation from Elbistan Mükrimin Halil High School and Ataturk University/Business 
Administration Department respectively. In 1993, he participated to Finansbank A.Ş. as Credits Group 
Head after holding various positions in Yapı ve Kredi Bank A.Ş. until 1993. He served as the 
Assistant General Manager between the years 1997 and 2002 in Finansbank A.Ş. He has been the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fiba Factoring Services A.Ş. and Girişim Factoring A.Ş. He is 
member of the Board of Directors and the Credit Committee of Fibabanka A.Ş. since December 27, 
2010. 



 
Bekir DİLDAR - Board Member and General Manager 
Mr. Dildar who was born in 1964, after completing his education in Marmara College and US 
International (Alliant International) University Watford (UK) Business Administration Department, 
worked in a commercial entity. He started to his banking career in 1988 in Interbank AŞ. He worked in 
Interbank AŞ until 1991, in Egebank A.Ş. during 1991-1994 and then he joined Finansbank A.Ş. in 
1994. During 1999 – 2003, he served as the General Manager of Finansbank Romania S.A., and 
then he came back to the Finansbank A.Ş. in 2003. Until 2010, he worked as the Assistant General 
Manager responsible from SME Banking, Board Member of Finans Leasing A.Ş., Executive 
Committee Member and the Assistant General Manager responsible from international activities. He 
is member of the Board of Directors and the Credit Committee of Fibabanka A.Ş. since December 27, 
2010. 
 
ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGERS 
 
Elif Alsev UTKU ÖZBEY – Assistant General Manager 
Mrs. Özbey who was born in 1971, holds Master of Business Administration degree from Erasmus 
University/Rotterdam, following her graduation from Samsun Anatolian High School and Boğaziçi 
University/Business Administration Department respectively. After she worked in 
PricewaterhouseCoopers during 1994 – 1995, she joined Finansbank A.Ş. in 1995. In Finansbank 
A.Ş she worked in various duties until 2009 and lastly she worked as the Assistant General Manager 
responsible from the Financial Reporting and Planning. She joined Fiba Holding as Financial Affairs 
Director in 2009. As of January 7, 2011, she was appointed as the Assistant General Manager of 
Fibabanka A.Ş. responsible from the Financial Reporting. 
 
Ahmet İLERİGELEN – Assistant General Manager 
Mr. İlerigelen who was born in 1961, holds Master of Money and Banking from in Istanbul University 
Social Sciences Faculty, following his graduation from İstanbul Işık Lisesi and Istanbul 
University/Business Administration and Finance Department respectively. He started to his banking 
career in Yapı ve Kredi Bank A.Ş. in 1983. After holding various responsibilities in various 
departments in Yapı ve Kredi Bankası A.Ş. during 1983-2007, he joined to Tekstilbank A.Ş. in 2007. 
He participated to Fiba Group after working as Assistant General Manager responsible from 
Operations and Credits in Tekstilbank A.Ş. He took office in Credit Europe Bank N.V. in 2010. As of 
January 7, 2011, he was appointed as the Assistant General Manager of Fibabanka A.Ş. responsible 
from the Credits Department and Legal Affairs. 
 
Ali Murat DİNÇ – Assistant General Manager 
Mr. Dinç who was born in 1968, holds Master of Business Administration degree from Exeter 
University, following her graduation from Galatasaray High School and Istanbul 
University/Econometrics Department respectively. He worked as Area manager in Ford Otosan 
between 1992 – 1995 years. He began his banking career in Garanti Bankası A.Ş in 1996. He worked 
in Finansbank A.Ş. during 1997 – 1998 and then he took office in Banque Du Bosphore during 1998 – 
2000. After the execution of Branch Manager function in Finansbank A.Ş. Main Branch between the 
years 2000 and 2005, he worked as the Assistant General Manager of Credit Europe Bank N.V. 
during 2005 – 2010. As of January 7, 2011, he was appointed as the Assistant General Manager of 
Fibabanka A.Ş. responsible from the Marketing and Sales.  
 
Adem AYKIN – Assistant General Manager 
Mr. Aykın who was born in 1967, graduated from Denizli High School and Dokuz Eylul University 
Computer Programming and Anadolu University Business Administration Departments respectively. 
He started to his banking career in Finansbank A.Ş. in 1988. He worked in Korfez Bank during 1993-
1995, and in Finansbank A.Ş. during 1997-2006, and then he worked as the Assistant General 
Manager of Credit Europe Bank Russia between the years 2006 – 2011. As of July 1, 2011, he was 
appointed as the Assistant General Manager of Fibabanka A.Ş. responsible from the Information 
Technologies. 
 
Esra OSMANAĞAOĞLU – Coordinator 
Ms. Osmanağaoğlu, who was born in 1967, graduated from Hopa Lisesi and Istanbul 
University/Business Sociology Department respectively. She joined to Finansbank A.Ş. in 1990 after 
she worked in Pamukbank A.Ş. during 1988-1990. She held various positions in Finansbank A.Ş. 
until 2007. She joined Fiba Factoring A.Ş. as Assistant General Manager responsible from 
Operations and Fund Management in 2007. As of June 1, 2011, she was appointed as the 
Coordinator of Fibabanka A.Ş. responsible from Operation. 



DEPARTMENT HEADS UNDER INTERNAL SYSTEMS 
 
Asiye Bilun ÖNDER – Internal Control Department Head   
Mrs. Önder who was born in 1973, after completing her education in Lycee Saint Benoit D’İstanbul 
and in Bosphorus University/Business Administration Department, started to work in Price 
Waterhouse Coopers in 1997. She promoted up to Auditing Manager position and then in 2004 she 
joined to BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş. (Fibabanka A.Ş.) as Internal Control Manager. She is responsible 
from Internal Control Department. 
 
Ayşe TULGAR – Risk Management Department Head 
Ms. Tulgar who was born in 1977, after completing her education in Fenerbahçe High School and 
Marmara University/Business Administration Department respectively, started to her banking career 
in İktisat Bankası A.Ş. in 1999. She worked in Alternatif Bank A.Ş. during 2000 – 2002 and in Oyak 
Bank during 2002 – 2004 respectively. After holding various positions in Finansbank A.Ş. between 
the years 2004 and 2011, she joined to Fibabanka A.Ş. in 2011. She is responsible from Risk 
Management Department.  
 
Ahmet Cemil BORUCU – Internal Audit Department Head 
Mr. Borucu who was born in 1975, holds Master of Business Administration degree from Istanbul 
Technical University, following his graduation from Ankara Atatürk Anadolu High School and Bilkent 
University/Business Administration Department respectively. He started to his banking career in 
DışBank in 1997. After working Türk Ekonomi Bankası A.Ş. between 2004 – 2006 years, he worked 
Deloitte – DRT Audit A.Ş. during 2006 – 2007. He worked in Fortis Bank (Türk Ekonomi Bankası) 
A.Ş. between 2007- 2011. Mr. Borucu has joined to Fibabanka A.Ş. in 2011. He is head of the 
Internal Audit Department.  
 
Serdal YILDIRIM – Legislation and Compliance Deparment Head 
Mr. Yıldırım who was born in 1973, holds his Master degree from Çukurova University, Social 
Sciences Institute, following his graduation from Kadirli High School and Ankara University, Business 
Administration Department respectively. He started to his banking career in TürkBank A.Ş. in 1996 as 
internal auditor. He worked Industrial Development Bank of Turkey between 2001-2002 years as 
internal auditor, Fortis Bank A.Ş. between 2002 – 2009 years at Internal Control and Compliance 
Departments and Fortis Bank Malta Ltd between 2009 – 2010 as Chief Risk Officer. He joined 
Fibabanka A.Ş. in 2011. He was responsible from Compliance and Legislation Department.  
 
B) Auditor: 
 

Name Title 
Date of 
Appointment 

Education 
Professional 
Experience 

Ahmet Hüsnü Güreli Auditor 27 December 2010 Undergraduate 37 years 

 
 
Ahmet Hüsnü GÜRELİ – Auditor 
Mr. Güreli who was born in 1952, graduated from İstanbul Işık Lisesi and İstanbul University/Faculty 
of Law and afterwards received his incorporated law society certificate in 1974. In the exams 
organized for being accountant and proficiency, he passed out the highest and became Assistant 
accountant in 1975 and Accountant in 1978. In 1980 he established Güreli Consultancy Services A.Ş. 
He received the title of “Chartered Accountant” in 1989, of “Responsible Partner Chief Accountant” in 
1990. He is the member of Ministry of Finance Tax Council and is executing the Deputy 
Chairmanship of both Turkish National Paralympics Committee and Işık University.  He is executing 
Auditor function in Fibabanka A.Ş. since December 27, 2010. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
C) Information relating with chairmans and members of committees composed due to the 
Regulation relating with Internal Systems of Banks:  
 
Corporate Governance Committee 
 

 
Corporate Governance 
Committee 
 

Chairman:  

 Faik Onur Umut (Member of BOD) 
 
Members:  

 Bekir Dildar (Member of BOD and GM) 

 Alsev Utku (Financial Reporting – Assistant GM)  

 Serdal Yıldırım (Legislation & Compliance Department Head) 

 
Board of Directors of the Bank established Corporate Governance Committee for the enhancement of 
the corporate governance principles and monitoring of its implementation at the Bank under the 
chairmanship of Faik Onur Umut. The committee holds its meetings at least four times in a year.  
 
 
Audit Committee 
 

Audit Committee 
 

 Fevzi Bozer (Vice Chairman of BoD)  

 Faik Onur Umut (Member of BoD) 

 
Board of Directors of the Bank established Audit Committee for the execution of the audit and 
monitoring functions of the Board of Directors. The committee holds its meetings at least four times in 
a year.  
 
Credit Committee  
 

 
Credit Committee  
 

Chairman:  

 M. Erhan Polat (Member of BoD)  
 
Members:  

 Enver Murat Başbay (Member of BoD) 

 Bekir Dildar (Member of BoD  and GM) 
 
Alternate Member:  

 Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin (Chairman of BoD)  

 Mehmet Güleşci (Member of BoD) 

 
Board of Directors of the Bank established Credit Committee for the execution of the credit duties. 
Credit Committee is the second highest competent authority for credits after the Board of Directors. 
The committee holds its meetings once in a week under the chairmanship of M. Erhan Polat.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Risk Committee 
 

Risk Committee 
 

 
Chairman:  

 Bekir Dildar (Member of BoD and GM)  
 

Members: 

 Ahmet İlerigelen (Credits  –Assistant GM) 

 Alsev Utku (Financial Reporting – Assistant GM)  

 Murat Dinç (Sales&Marketing – Assistant GM) 

 Ayşe Tulgar (Head of Risk Management) 
 
 

 
Board of Directors of the Bank established the Risk Management Committee for the determination of 
the risk policies and its implementation rules and monitoring functions of it. The committee holds its 
meetings monthly under the chairmanship of Bekir Dildar. 
 
Asset and Liability Committee 
 

Asset and Liability Committee 

 
Chairman:  

 Bekir Dildar (Member of BOD and GM)  
 

Members: 

 Ahmet İlerigelen (Credits –Assistant GM) 

 Alsev Utku (Financial Reporting – Assistant GM)  

 Murat Dinç (Sales&Marketing – Assistant GM) 

 Ayşe Tulgar (Head of Risk Management) 
 
  

 
 
Board of Directors of the Bank established Asset-Liability Committee for the management of assets 
and liabilities and determination of the policies regarding fund management and its implementation 
rules and monitoring functions of it. The committee shall hold its meetings once in a week  under the 
chairmanship of Bekir Dildar. 

 
D) Informations relating with the attendance of the members of the Board of Directors and 
Audit Committee in meetings : 
 
1-Board of Directors 
 
Pursuant to the Turkish Commercial Code, the Board of Directors convenes at the headquarters of 
the Bank and at a convenient venue in Turkey or abroad, whenever the activities and transactions of 
the Bank requires. It’s compulsory for the Board of Directors of our Bank to convene at least once in a 
month. 
 
2-Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee Meetings were held with the attendance of members on 02/03/2011, 
13/05/2011, 08/08/2011, 03/11/2011 and 26/12/2011. 
 
3-Credit Committee 
 
The Credit Committee convenes once in a week. 
 
4-ALCO Committee 
 
The Alco Committee convenes once in a week. 
 
E) Summarized Board of Directors’ Report presented to the General Assembly: 



 
 
The year 2011 has generally been challenging and unsteady for global markets. While developing 
economies were trying to cope with the adverse affects of the debt crisis in Europe, economic 
indicators for emerging countries including Turkey have been positive. Thanks to its robust banking 
industry and strong fiscal discipline, Turkey has managed to attract foreign capital, and completed the 
year 2011 with high growth. For Turkey, we expect the growth rate for 2011 to be at 8%. 
 
Bank’s asset total as of 31 December 2011 is TL 2,486.7 million. As of 31 December 2011, total 
shareholders’ equity is TL 233.3 million, and Bank’s paid-in capital is TL 325 million, while prior years’ 
losses is TL 122.1 million, and the net profit for the current year is TL 5.2 million. Bank’s total loans 
increased by 229% year on year to TL 2.1 billion as at year end 2011, and the rate of loans in total 
assets realized as 85%. Bank’s nonperforming loans ratio, which is 0.8%, is well below the banking 
industry average. Bank’s capital adequacy ratio is 17.22% as of 31 December 2011. 
 
Bank’s “Financial Statements” prepared as of 31 December 2011 and independently audited, which 
will be disclosed to public, are presented for your reviews and approval.  
 
F) Information relating with Human Resources Operations: 
 
Hiring activities have been performed to satisfy the needs of branch network and Head Quarter 
Departments which have been structured in line with the general policies of the Bank. With the 
opening of 3 (three) new Branches in Antalya and İstanbul, number of branches reached to 21 
(twenty-one) and 2011 had been completed with 438 (four hundred-thirty-eight) employees. It was 
intended to benefit from the knowledge and competencies of employees at an optimum level through 
rotations and promotions, and to satisfy the needs of the Bank in a rapid and effective manner.  With 
the aim of improving professional knowledge and experiences of employees as well as to support 
their personal development, in-house training programs were organized and participations to the 
programs organized by other companies/institutions were realized. Market practices regarding 
compensation and benefits had been monitored and within the existing applications salary increases 
and fringe benefit related arrangements had been performed.   
 
 
G) Information related to the risk group of the Bank: 
 
Loans and other receivables: 
 
(Thousand TL) 

      

       

Bank’s risk group Associates and 
subsidiaries 

Direct and indirect 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Other components in 
risk group 

 Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash 

Loans and other receivables       

Balance at the beginning of the 
period -- -- -- -- -- 450  

Balance at the end of the period -- -- 9,857  10,847  -- 999  

Interest and commission income 
received -- -- 10  3  -- --  

Interest and commission income 
received of previous risk group -- -- -- -- -- --  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      



Prior period:       
       

Bank’s risk group Associates and 
subsidiaries 

Direct and indirect 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Other components in 
risk group 

 Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash 

Loans and other receivables       

Balance at the beginning of the 
period -- -- 207 792 1,002 811 

Balance at the end of the period -- -- -- -- -- 450 

Interest and commission income 
received -- -- 18 -- -- -- 

Interest and commission income 
received of previous risk group -- -- -- -- 117 18 

 
 
Information on deposits held by the Bank’s 
risk group  (Thousand TL) 

     

       
       

Bank’s risk group Associates and 
subsidiaries 

Direct and indirect 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Other components in 
risk group 

Deposits Current 
period 

Prior 
period 

Current 
period 

Prior 
period 

Current 
period 

Prior 
period 

Balance at the beginning of the 
period -- -- 113,864  213,554 -- -- 

Balance at the end of the period  -- -- 379  113,864 94,824  -- 

Interest on deposits -- -- 1,235  51 1,975  -- 

Interest on deposits of previous 
risk group -- -- -- 1,166 -- -- 

       
 
Information on derivative agreements 
made with the Bank’s risk group 
(Thousand TL) 

     

       

Bank’s risk group Associates and 
subsidiaries 

Direct and indirect 
shareholders of the 

Bank 

Other components in 
risk group 

 Current 
period 

Prior 
period 

Current 
period 

Prior 
period 

Current 
period 

Prior 
period 

Transactions for trading 
purposes 

      

Beginning of the period                --                 --  757,317  857,632                 --                 --  

End of the period                --                 --  3,401,356 757,317                 --                 --  

Total income/loss                --                 --  1,147  149                 --                 --  

Transactions for hedging 
purposes 

               --                 --                 --                 --                 --                 --  

Beginning of the period                --                 --  --  940,641                 --                 --  

End of the period                --                 --                 --                 --                 --                 --  

Total income/loss from 
derivatives 

               --                 --                 --                 --                 --                 --  

Total income/loss from 
derivatives of previous risk group 

               --                 --  -- (7,131)                --                 --  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
H) Information relating with companies and activities which provide services due to the 
“regulation related to the provision of support services to the bank and the granting of the 
corporations providing such services with authorities related thereto”:  
 

OPERATING SYSTEMS OF THE BANK  

COMPANY NAME  SERVICE GIVEN- AREA OF STUDY 

IBM Portugal - Operation of Core Banking Application (AS400);  

 

IBM Turkey - Business Continuity and Resilience Services 

Provus Bilişim 

Hizmetleri A.Ş. 

- Debit and credit card application services. 

Global Bilişim Yazılım 

Danışmanlık San. Ve 

Tic. Ltd. 

- EFT and SWIFT systems maintenance services. 

 

Infina Yazılım A.Ş. - Provider of software for Investment transactions and fund management applications 

(Finbase). Maintenance services for the system. 

Probil Bilgi İşlem 

Destek ve Danışmanlık 

San. Tic. A.Ş. 

- System support & hardware maintenance and restitution services 

Datamarket Yazılım 

Danışmanlık San. Ve 

Tic. Ltd.  

- Provider of software for cheque management and cheque clearing software. Maintenance 

services for changes and problem support. 

AD Yazılım 

Danışmanlık T.A.Ş. 

- Provider of cheque software and annual support 

 

Akbasım A.Ş. - Cheque book printing services 

Securverdi - Cash and valuable assets transportation 

Brinks Güvenlik 

Hizmetleri A.Ş. 

- Transportation of precious goods  

Gökçe Grup 

İnş.Taah.Ot.Tur. 

Gıd.Sig.Em.Temizlik 

Ltd. Şti. 

- Personnel employment and cleaning  services 

K2 Kültür İşleri Dan. 

Org. ve Tic. Ltd. Şti. 

- Advertisement of credit products and directing credit demands  

PHONE BANKING 

 

COMPANY NAME  SERVICE GIVEN- AREA OF STUDY 

Mantis - Voice recorder (IVR) maintenance services. 

 

- Call Center statistical data reporting system maintenance services 

 

 

 

ATM BANKING 

 

COMPANY NAME  SERVICE GIVEN- AREA OF STUDY 

Banksoft Bilişim 

Bilgisayar Hizmetleri 

LTD.ŞTİ 

- ATM operations services. 

 

NCR Bilişim Sistemleri 

A.Ş. 

 

- ATM operations & maintenance services. 

INTERNET BANKACILIĞI 

 

COMPANY NAME  SERVICE GIVEN- AREA OF STUDY 

V.R.P Veri Raporlama 

Programlama Bilişim 

Yazılım Ve Danışmanlık 

Hizmetleri Ticaret A.Ş. 

- Internet Banking system maintenance 

 

- Web site maintenance services. 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
III. FINANCIALS AND INFORMATIONS RELATING WITH THE RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
 
A) Report of the Auditor appointed due to the article 347 of the Turkish Commercial Law: 
 

AUDITOR REPORT OF THE YEAR 2011 

TO THE ATTENTION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF FİBABANKA A.Ş. 

We have examined the balance sheet and operations of Fibabanka A.Ş. for the period of 
01.01.2011–31.12.2011 within the scope of the Turkish Commercial Code, Articles of Association of 
the Bank and other related legislations. 

As a result of our examination, we determined that the balance sheet and income statement were 
accurately and truthfully reflecting the financial situation and activity results of the Bank for the 
aforementioned period and they were consistent with the related legislation and the Articles of 
Association of the Bank.  

In this respect, we kindly submit the balance sheet and the income statement to your approval. 
 

 
 

Ahmet Hüsnü Güreli 

Auditor 

 
1) Legislation and Compliance Department 
 
Legislation and Compliance Department was established in April 2011 and the main purpose of 
Legislation and Compliance Department is to ensure that all the current and planned activities, 
products and services of the Bank complied with all laws and regulations, internal policies and 
procedures and banking conventions, to prevent Laundering Proceeds of Crime and Terrorism 
Financing and to combat corruption. 
 
Legislation and Compliance Department is composed of 3 people and reporting to Audit Committee. 
 
Legislation and Compliance Department is also responsible for the regulation and monitoring of 
structures and processes related with Corporate Governance Principles, policies related with ethical 
codes and policies related with social and environmental responsibilities. 

 
2- Internal Audit Department 
 
Internal Audit Department is staffed with 4 internal auditors who have Certified Public Accountant, 
Certified Internal Auditor, Certified Risk and Information Systems Control, Certified Information 
Systems Auditor, Capital Markets Board Advanced Level License designations. 
 
In 2011 a new Head of Internal Audit was recruited as part of restructuring plan. Moreover 
organization structure was redesigned to separately cover Banking Processes and Information 
Technology audits.   
 
Annual audit plan is prepared parallel with the results of risk assessments performed by Internal Audit 
Department. 
 
According to the annual audit plan, audits of 7 banking processes, 4 COBIT domain IT processes and 
10 branches were completed by Internal Audit Department. Significant findings were reported to the 
Audit Committee.   

 



3) Risk Management Department 
 
The main purpose of Risk Management Department is to constitute required methods, instruments 
and implementation of procedures to determine, measure, follow and control the risks that the Bank 
carries. For that purpose, periodical evaluations, measurements, reporting and controlling are 
conducted on a daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly and yearly basis. 
 
After CEB N.V. purchased the Bank at the end of 2010, it was targeted to restructure and reinforce 
Risk Management Department with required systems and infrastructure and also to constitute a 
structure that will enable the Bank to perform all activities and calculations within the Bank’s 
organization locally.  
 
Within this scope Risk Management Department’s subdivisions are organized as Market Risk 
Management, Credit Risk Management and Operational Risk Management.  
 
Related divisions and scope of business can be summarized as follows:  
 

 Market Risk Management: The aim is to manage the possible losses that the Bank exposed 
due to the Bank’s market risk, currency risk, specific risk, commodity risk and trade risk. 
  

 Credit Risk Management: The aim is to manage the probable losses that the Bank will 
expose due to the credit customer’s failure to comply with the requirements of the contract 
and failure to fulfill the obligations partially or completely. The Bank's direct or indirect 
allocation, monitoring and operations related to a credit in favor of a retail customer or a 
business enterprise are assessed in accordance with all relevant processes of credit risk 
management. 

 

 Operational Risk Management: Operational risk is the possibility of leading to different results 
as of the risk of loss, gain, opportunity costs than expected due to inadequate or faulty work 
processes, systems, human factors or external events. Operational risks and impacts 
identified are managed within the methods such as avoidance, reduction and transfer and 
within the limits set by Bank Risk Appetite Policy.  

 
Risk Management Department's activities in 2011 are summarized as follows: 
 

 All the risks that the Bank is carrying are followed within the limits set in the Bank Risk 
Appetite Policy which is approved by the Board of Directors. Related reports submitted to the 
Board of Directors once a month and also the Bank's risk profile is presented. 

 On a monthly basis Market Risk, Currency Risk and Credit Risk reports are sent to the BRSA 
and "Draft Regulation on Assessment of Capital Adequacy Ratio" report is also offered to the 
BRSA on a monthly basis within the scope of Basel II reporting. 

 Details of trading portfolio, liquidity, market, interest rate and credit risk analysis and reporting 
are presented in Asset and Liability Committee meetings once a week and in Risk 
Management Committee meetings once a month. 

 
 
 



 

 

C)  Financial Tables and Information Related to Financial Structure 
 
This part takes place in Independent Auditors’ Report. 
 
D)  Financial Position, Profitability and Capability for Payment of Debt 
 

Asset size of the Bank increased by 176% in 2011 and realized as TL 2,486.7 million. 

 

Loans to customers volume increased by 229%, from TL 640.0 million as at the end of 2010 to TL 

2,106.7 million at the end of 2011. The weight of loans in total assets increased from %71 at the end 

of 2010 to 85% at the end of year 2011. 

 

Credit worthiness of loans and other receivables are monitored systematically. The Bank acts in 

compliance with the Banks Law for the limits of new disbursement of loans. Collaterals are received 

for the loans disbursed in order to reduce risk. Non perfoming loan balance was TL 16.4 million and 

the provision balance was TL 4.7 million due to careful evaluation of each loan application. 

 

As at the end of year 2011, Bank’s securities portfolio which is kept for trading purposes decreased 

by 62% to TL 36.3 million, and AFS portfolio increased to TL 15.8 million due to new additions. In 

addition, the weight of securities portfolio in total assets decreased to 2% in 2011, from the year end 

2010 level of 10%. 

 

Total deposits balance upsized by 173% and reached to TL 2,050.5 million. Details of the deposits 

for 2011 and 2010 are presented in the following table: 

 

  31/12/11 31/12/10 

(Thousands TL) LCY FCY Total LCY FCY Total 

Interbank deposits 6,135 32,581 38,716 844 113,864 114,708 

Saving deposits 975,917 --  975,917 224,135 --  224,135 

Commercial deposits 536,213 --  536,213 42,562 --  42,562 

Other institutions deposits 238 --  238 98 --  98 

Foreign exchange deposits --  499,421 499,421 --  368,765 368,765 

Total 1,518,503 532,002 2,050,505 267,639 482,629 750,268 

 

 

The loss before tax realized as TL 15.5 million in year 2010. On the other hand, the Bank realized a 

profit before tax as TL 7.9 million in year 2011. After TL 2.8 million deferred tax charge, net profit is 

TL 5.2 million. 

 

Bank’s net interest income increased by 113%, and net commission income increased by 164% in 

2011 compared to year 2010. The Bank’s net trading gain realized as TL 5.2 million, and the Bank’s 

operating income increased by 177% and realized as TL 91.0 million in 2011. 

 

Operating expenses increased by 42% to TL 64.8 million in year 2011. 

 

Fibabanka A.Ş.’s Capital Adequacy Ratio was  17.22% by the end of 2011. (31/12/2010: 15.02%) 

 

(Thousands TL) 31/12/11 31/12/10 

Amount subject to credit risk (CR) 1,873,275 443,778 

Amount subject to market risk (MR) 72,513 107,463 

Amount subject to operational risk (OR) 62,486 73.827 

Shareholders’ Equity 345,914 93.902 

Shareholders’ Equity / (CR+MR+OR)*100 17.22% 15,02% 

 
Exchange rate risk, currency risk and liquidity risk of the bank are monitored by risk 
management control systems. Management of the balance sheet is determined according to 
the risk and legal limitations.  
 



 

 

The Bank defines market risk management activities in accordance with “Regulation on Banks 
Internal Systems” and “Regulation on Measurement and Evaluation of Capital Adequacy” 
which are published in Official Gazette Number:26333,dated November 1st,2006 and takes 
necessary actions. Market risk calculations are made monthly and the results are taken into 
consideration in capital adequacy ratio calculation. Amount subject to market risk at year end 
2011 is TL 72.5 million. 
 
Standard method and value at risk method used for the measurement of the exchange rate 
risk. In order to provide control over exposure to foreign currency risk, legal foreign currency 
position limits are used.  As of December 2011 foreign currency open is TL 8.4 million. 
 
Asset and liability maturity mismatch is measured and evaluated for liquidity risk management 
strategy. For possible market fluctuations, a portfolio of liquid assets is held as a part of 
liquidity risk management strategy.  
 
TL and FC cash flow statements are used for monitoring liquidity risk. Furthermore, FC/TL 
deposits structure, deposit cost and the changes in the balance of deposits monitored on a 
daily basis. These studies are prepared in accordance with past business experiences and 
future expectations. In order to fulfill liquidity requirements, different pricing policies are set for 
different maturities according to the cash flow analyses. Besides, for extraordinary 
circumstances, alternative sources for liquidity are determined. 

 
E) Risk Policies according to Risk Types 

  
1)Market Risk Arise From Trading Portfoli 
 
The following activities are carried out in order to identify, measure and report Bank's market risk, to 
ensure compliance with the laws of the BRSA, to minimize the losses resulting from the Bank's 
market risk and also to improve the processes and standards. 
 
The position that the Bank carries cannot exceed the legal limits. In addition, within the scope of 
Trading Policy, Value at Risk limit is determined for trading portfolio of the Bank. Necessary 
infrastructure is set by the Risk Management Department in order to follow the compliance to these 
limits on a daily basis.  
 
2)Interest Rate Risk Arise From Banking Accounts 
 
Within the scope of Asset and Liability Management Policy, repricing mismatches of the Bank's 
assets and liabilities in different maturity buckets are measured by applying pre-determined interest 
rate shocks and the change in net economic value is calculated. 
 
With the Interest Rate Risk Reports and stress tests applied, it is provided to measure the sensitivity 
of the risk level that is willingly held by the Bank against crisis scenarios and also to keep risk levels 
under control.  
 
3)Liquidty and Funding Risk 
 
The Bank applies the global principles for the liquidity risk identification, measurement, reporting and 
control and also sets policies in accordance with BRSA legislation. 
 
When the Bank determines the liquidity position, the existing and expected asset quality, capacity of 
creating profit, funding needs that past experience signals, current liquidity position, expected future 
funding needs and funding sources are taken into consideration. 
 
The Bank's Liquidity Risk Management organization, functions and responsibilities are defined in 
detail and the basic principles, practices and reporting limits are set in Liquidity and Funding Risk 
Policy. 
 
Liquidity Risk Management Reports present the scenario analysis about short-term and long-term 
liquidity risks and positions that the Bank carries. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

4)Credit Risk 
 
The Bank set rating, model development and validation standards in order to estimate, identify 
measure, monitor, dispose, reduce and manage the credit risk. These standards have been 
developed to determine and identify credit customers in accordance with credit policies properly. 
 
In addition in order to identify, measure, report and control credit risk, all necessary 
reporting&controlling activities are performed in accordance with local legislation. 
 
Calculation of loan loss provisions are based on BRSA legislations. 
 
For all transactions having  bank counterparties, limits are set on a bank basis by the Treasury 
department. 
 
Credit Risk Reports are used in order to evaluate and review concentration and risk limits for Bank's 
loan portfolio periodically. 
 
5)Operational Risk 
 
The Bank applies practices and policies in accordance with local regulations and also the best 
international practices for operational risk identification, measurement, mitigation, reporting and 
control. 
 
Under the umbrella of operational risk, business continuity policies and procedures have been 
created. Business impact analysis has been made to ensure process based business continuity in 
addition to that critical activities of the institution and necessary resources to carry out these activities 
have been identified. Business continuity plan is prepared and also infrastructural studies to 
implement business continuity plans are completed. 
 
 
 
F)  Information relating with the rating note giving by Rating Institutions: 
 
The Bank dos not have rating note given by a Rating Agency. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G)  Summary of Financial Information Related to Last Five Years: 
 
 

Summary of Balance Sheet      

(Thousand TL)      

 31/12/11 31/12/10 31/12/09 31/12/08 31/12/07 

      

Cash and balances with central bank  243,385 55,261 164,584 157,920 96,395 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 54,132 96,869 38,155 19,239 221,822 

Due from banks 18,903 73,346 104,423 57,205 61,279 

Money market placements  --   --    -- 40,017   --  

Securities available for sale 15,844 14 16   --   --  

Loans and advances to customers  2,106,677 640,000 727,407 883,816 736,203 

Investments in associates  --   --     - 16 13 



 

 

Derivative assets held for risk management  --   --    1,585 19,824   4,309 

Bank premises and equipment 11,663   6,743   8,417   8,157 18,203 

Intangible assets   6,074   2,044   2,068 861   3,302 

Tax assets 20,472 22,798 21,925 18,652 15,235 

Asset Held For Sale And Assets Of Discontinued 
Operations (Net)   6,270   1,883  --   --   --  

Other assets   3,329   3,281   2,407   2,742   2,695 

Total assets 
  

2,486,749 902,239   1,070,987   1,208,449 
  

1,159,456 

      

Deposits  2,050,505 750,268 889,662 986,008 954,895 

Derivative liabilities held for trading 16,315 23,543   1,192 11,815 32,113 

Bank borrowings 29,756   2,574 300   --   --  

Interbank money markets 6,831   --   --     -- 8,655  

Miscellaneous payables 105,796 935   3,008   1,001   1,771 

Other external resources 12,343   5,546   9,265 13,608   5,674 

Derivative liabilities held for risk management  --   --  32,283 40,121 40,043 

Provisions 25,938 10,021 10,897 12,895   7,937 

Taxes payable   6,012   2,024   2,410   3,246   2,696 

Shareholder's equity 233,253 107,328 121,970 139,755 105,672 

Total liabilities 
  

2,486,749 902,239   1,070,987   1,208,449 
  

1,159,456 

 

Summary of Income Statement      

(Thousand TL)      

 31/12/11 31/12/10 31/12/09 31/12/08 31/12/07 

Interest Income 168,442 71,577 87,399 114,508 123,674 

Interest Expense 98,002 38,494 53,723 65,430 57,555 

Net Interest Income 70,440 33,083 33,676 49,078 66,119 

Net Fees and Comission Income 12,029 4,548 3,645 3,717 2,168 

Trading Income 5,160 (9,045) (7,855) (11,336) (21,840) 

Other Operational Income 3,368 4,256 3,550 14,391 1,361 

Total Operational Income 90,997 32,842 33,016 55,850 47,808 

Provision for loans and other receivables 18,248 2,631 4,626 3,280 3,176 

Other Operational Expenses 64,808 45,723 49,448 50,372 48,713 

Income from operational activities 7,941 (15,512) (21,058) 2,198 (4,081) 

Income before tax 7,941 (15,512) (21,058) 2,198 (4,081) 

Provision for taxes (2,754) 870 3,273 (1,366) (297) 

Net Loss/Profit from ordinary activities 5,187 (14,642) (17,785) 3,564 (3,784) 

Net Profit/Loss 5,187 (14,642) (17,785) 3,564 (3,784) 



 

 

(Convenience Translation of Financial Statements and Related Disclosures and Footnotes 

Originally Issued in Turkish) 
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FİBABANKA A.Ş. 

(FORMERLY NAMED AS MILLENNIUM BANK A.Ş.) 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 1 JANUARY 2011 – 31 DECEMBER 2011 

 

To the Board of Directors of 

Fibabanka A.Ş. 

Istanbul 

 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Fibabanka A.Ş. (formerly named as Millennium 

Bank A.Ş.) (“the Bank”) as at 31 December 2011 and the related statements of income, changes in 

shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes. 

 

Board of Director’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 

The Board of Directors of the Bank is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in accordance with the regulation on “Procedures And Principles Regarding 

Banks’ Accounting Practices And Maintaining Documents” published in the Official Gazette dated 1 

November 2006 and numbered 26333 and Turkish Accounting Standards, Turkish Financial Reporting 

Standards and other regulations, circulars, communiqués and pronouncements in respect of accounting 

and financial reporting made by Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency. This responsibility 

includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 

are reasonable in the circumstances. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with the regulation on “Licensing and Operations of Audit Firms in 

Banking” published in the Official Gazette No: 26333 on 1 November 2006 and the International 

Standards on Auditing. We planned and performed our audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures 

to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the consideration of the effectiveness of internal 

control and appropriateness of accounting policies applied relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects the 

financial position of Fibabanka A.Ş. for the year ended 31 December 2011 in accordance with the 

prevailing accounting principles and standards set out as per the Article No: 37 of the Banking Act 

No: 5411, and other regulations, communiqués and circulars in respect of accounting and financial 

reporting and pronouncements made by Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency. 

 

 

 

DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş. 

Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED  

 

 

 

Hasan Kılıç  

Partner 

 

 

Istanbul, 6 February 2012 



 

 

 

FİBABANKA A.Ş. UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORT AS OF 

AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 

  

  
 Address : Emirhan Cad. Barbaros Plaza İş Merkezi  

                               No:113 Dikilitaş/Beşiktaş   İstanbul 

 Telephone  : (212) 381 82 00 

 Fax   : (212) 258 37 78 

 Web Site : www.fibabanka.com.tr 

 Contact E-Mail  : alper.cilekar@fibabanka.com.tr 

 

The unconsolidated year-end financial report prepared in accordance with the Communiqué on 

“Financial Statements and the Accompanying Explanations and Footnotes to be Announced to the 

Public by Banks” of Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency (BRSA), comprises the following 

sections: 

 

 General Information about the Bank 

 Unconsolidated Financial Statements 

 Explanations on the Accounting Policies Applied in the Current Period 

 Information on the Bank’s Financial Structure 

 Disclosures and Notes to the Unconsolidated Financial Statements 

 Other Disclosures  

 Independent Auditor’s Report 

The unconsolidated financial statements, related disclosures and notes in this report are prepared, unless 

otherwise indicated, in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL), in accordance with the Communiqué on 

“Principles and Procedures on the Accounting Practice and Documentation of Banks”, Turkish 

Accounting Standards, Turkish Financial Reporting  Standards and the related appendices and 

interpretations and the Bank’s financial records, and they have been independently audited and presented 

as the attached. 

 

 

 

 

 

Hüsnü Mustafa 

Özyeğin 

 Fevzi Bozer  Faik Onur Umut  Bekir Dildar  Elif Alsev 

Utku 

 Ayşe Akdaş 

Chairman of Board of 

Directors 

 Member of the 

Audit Committee 

 Member of the 

Audit Committee  

 General Manager  Assistant 

General 

Manager  

 Finance 

Department 

Head  

       
    

 

 

Information on the authorized personnel to whom questions related to this financial report may be directed. 
Name-Surname/Title : Ayşe Akdaş / Finance Department Head 

Telephone : (212) 381 84 88 

Fax : (212) 258 37 78 
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FİBABANKA A.Ş. 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 

 

SECTION ONE 

  GENERAL INFORMATION 

I. History of the Bank Including Its Incorporation Date, Initial Status and Amendments to the 

Initial Status 

 
On 21 December 2001, Share Transfer Agreement was signed with Novabank S.A. for the sale of all 

shares of Sitebank A.Ş. under the control of SDIF and the sale transaction was approved by the 

decision of BRSA No: 596 on 16 January 2002. 

In the General Assembly held on 4 March 2003, the name of Sitebank A.Ş. was amended as 

BankEuropa Bankası A.Ş.. 

In the extraordinary General Assembly held on 28 November 2006, the name of BankEuropa 

Bankası A.Ş. was amended as Millennium Bank A.Ş.. 

On 10 February 2010, Banco Comercial Portugues S.A. and Credit Europe Bank N.V., which is an 

affiliate of Fiba Group, signed a share purchase agreement to transfer 95% of the Bank’s shares to 

Credit Europe Bank N.V. and the legal approval process has been completed as of 27 December 

2010. Credit Europe Bank N.V. is 100% owned by Credit Europe Group N.V. which is a banking 

group incorporated in Netherlands and an affiliate of Fiba Holding A.Ş.. 

In the extraordinary General Assembly held on 25 April 2011 the name of Millennium Bank A.Ş. has 

been amended as Fibabanka A.Ş. (“Bank”). 

 

II. Shareholder Structure, Shareholders Having Direct or Indirect, Joint or Individual Control 

Over the Management and Internal Audit of the Bank, Changes in Shareholder Structure 

During the Current Period, if any and Information on the Bank’s Risk Group 

The Bank increased its capital by 122,465 TL as of 15 March 2011, which was 202,535 TL on 31 

December 2010.  

After the capital increase, the share of Credit Europe Bank N.V. which was %95 as of 31 December 

2010, has increased to 97% and the share of Banco Comercial Portugues S.A has decreased from 5% 

to 3%. 

As of 31 December 2011, the Bank’s paid in capital is 325,000 TL. As of 31 December 2011, the 

number of issued shares of the Bank is 32,500,000,000 with a 0.01 TL (full TL) nominal value per 

share. 

As of 20 September 2011, the Bank has taken a decision to increase its paid in capital by 41,000,000 

Euro in terms of TL equivalent. The first tranche of the related increase, was  transferred to the Bank 

on 10 October 2011 as 52,250 TL; the second tranche was transferred on 1 December 2011 as 49,400 

TL. As of  31 December 2011, such amounts are paid in capital is accounted under the “Sundry 

Creditors”. Following the approval of BRSA, the extraordinary General Assembly was held on 26 

January 2012 and the increase in paid in capital was registered. Therefore, the Bank’s capital has 

increased to 426,650 TL. 
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 

 
III. Explanations Regarding the Shares of the Bank Owned by and Areas of Responsibility of the 

Chairman and the Members of Board of Directors, Audit Committee Members, Chief 

Executive Officer, Executive Vice Presidents 
  Shares Assigned to work 

Name Surname Title  Owned On 

    

Board of Directors    

Hüsnü Mustafa Özyeğin Chairman  -- 27 December 2010 

Fevzi Bozer Deputy Chairman -- 27 December 2010 

M.Erhan Polat Member -- 27 December 2010 

Mehmet Güleşci Member -- 27 December 2010 

Faik Onur Umut Member -- 27 December 2010 

Enver Murat Başbay Member -- 27 December 2010 

Bekir Dildar Member-General Manager* -- 27 December 2010 

 

Auditing Committee   

 

Fevzi Bozer Member -- 27 December 2010 

Faik Onur Umut Member -- 27 December 2010 

    

Executive Vice Presidents    

Ahmet İlerigelen Executive Vice President  --      7 January 2011 

Ali Murat Dinç Executive Vice President --      7 January 2011 

Elif Alsev Utku Özbey Executive Vice President --      7 January 2011 

 Adem Aykın                                   Executive Vice President                  --                  1 July 2011          

(*) Bekir Dildar has been appointed as General Manager on 7 January 2011. 

IV. Individuals and Institutions That Have Qualified Shares in the Bank 

Credit Europe Bank N.V owns 97% of 32,500,000,000 shares of the Bank, which is owned by a 

banking group, Credit Europe Group N.V. 100%, incorporated in Netherlands and an affiliate of Fiba 

Holding A.Ş..  

                                                         Share                   Share               Paid Shares       Unpaid  

Name/Commercial Title         Amount (Nominal)    Percentage         (Nominal)    Shares 

 

Credit Europe Bank N.V.          314,873                        96.9%                   314,873                   -- 

Credit Europe Group N.V          314,873                       96.9%                   314.873                   -- 

Fiba Holding                              299,130                       92.0%                   299,130                   -- 

Hüsnü Murat Özyeğin                293,127                      90.2%                   293,127                   --       
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V. Summary Information on the Bank’s Services and Activity Areas 

                The Bank was incorporated as a foreign bank authorized for customer deposit acceptance and the 

Head Office of the Bank is located in Istanbul, Turkey. As of 31 December 2011, the Bank serves 

with 21 domestic branches and 438 employees. 

 

VI. Other Information  

  The Bank’s Commercial Title:              Fibabanka Anonim Şirketi 

The Bank’s General Directorate Address:     Emirhan Cad. Barbaros Plaza İş Merkezi    

                                                                                 No:113 Dikilitaş/Beşiktaş İstanbul               

The Bank’s Phone and Fax Numbers:                    Telephone: (0212) 381 82 00 

                                                                      Fax     :       (0212) 258 37 78 

The Bank’s Web Site Address:                  www.fibabanka.com.tr 

The Bank’s E-Mail Address:                  malikontrol@fibabanka.com.tr 

Reporting Period:          1 January 2011 – 31 December 2011 

 

 The financial statements, related disclosures and notes in this report are prepared, unless 

otherwise indicated, in thousands of Turkish Lira (TL). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECTION TWO 

UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2011 
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SECTION THREE 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

I. Explanations on the basis of presentation 

1. Preparation of the financial statements and the accompanying footnotes in accordance with Turkish 

Accounting Standards and the Communiqué “Principles and Procedures on the Accounting 

Procedures and Retention of Banking Documentation” 

The accompanying unconsolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Turkish 

Accounting Standards (“TAS”), Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) and related appendices 

and interpretations (together “Turkish Accounting Standards” or “TAS”) and other regulations, 

communiqués and circulars issued in respect of accounting and financial reporting and pronouncements 

made by the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency (“BRSA”), under the requirements of the 

Communiqué “Principles and Procedures on the Accounting Procedures and Retention of Banking 

Documentation” published in the Official Gazette numbered 26333 on 1 November 2006. The format and 

content of the unconsolidated financial statements and its accompanying footnotes are prepared in 

accordance with the Communiqué “Publicly Disclosed Financial Statements and the Accompanying 

Footnotes of Banks” and the appendices and amendments to the Communiqué published in the Official 

Gazette numbered 26430 on 10 February 2007. The Bank’s accounting records are prepared in TL 

amounts in accordance with the Banking Law, Turkish Commercial Code and Turkish Tax Legislation. 

 

The financial statements are prepared in TL based on the historical cost convention, except for the 

financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value. 

2. Accounting policies and valuation principles applied in preparation of financial statements 

The accounting policies and valuation principles used in the preparation of the financial statements are 

selected and applied in accordance with the requirements set out in Turkish Accounting Standards 

(“TAS”), Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”), the Communiqué “Principles and Procedures 

on the Accounting Procedures and Retention of Banking Documentation” published in the Official 

Gazette numbered 26333 on 1 November 2006, the Communiqué “Publicly Disclosed Financial 

Statements and the Accompanying Explanations and Footnotes by Banks” published in the Official 

Gazette numbered 26430 on 10 February 2007. The accounting policies and valuation principles applied 

in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements are explained in Notes II and XXIII below. 

II. Explanations on the usage strategy of financial instruments and on foreign currency transactions 

  1. Usage strategy of the financial instruments 

The major factor in managing interest rate and liquidity risk at the balance sheet is parallel movement of 

asset and liability side. 

Exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk are controlled and measured by various risk 

management systems, and the balance sheet is managed under the limits set by these systems and the 

limits legally required. Value at risk models are used for this purpose. 

Purchase-sale transactions of short and long-term financial instruments are realized within predetermined 

risk limits that is allowed for the purpose of increasing risk-free return on capital. 

The foreign currency position is controlled by the equilibrium of a currency basket to eliminate the 

foreign exchange risk. 
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2. Foreign currency transactions 

 

2.1  Foreign currency exchange rates used in converting transactions denominated in foreign currencies 

and their presentation in the financial  

The Bank recognizes the foreign currency transactions in accordance with TAS 21 “The Effects of 

Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the foreign 

currency transactions as of 31 December 2011 are converted into Turkish Lira by using the exchange rates 

at the date of the transaction and recognized in accounting records. At the end of the periods, foreign 

currency assets and liabilities are converted into Turkish Lira by using the spot foreign currency exchange 

rates of the Bank at the end of the period and the related currency translation differences are recognized as 

foreign exchange gains and losses.  

Foreign currency indexed loans are converted into Turkish Lira using the buying exchange rates as of the 

balance sheet date and the related currency translation differences are recognized as foreign exchange 

gains and losses.  

Negative foreign currency translation differences on foreign currency indexed loans due to declines in 

foreign exchange rates are recognized in “foreign currency indexed loans foreign currency translation 

allowance account at the liability side. This allowance account is offset with the foreign currency indexed 

loans in the accompanying financial statements. 

As at the end of the related periods, the Bank’s foreign currency exchange rates are as follows: 

  
31 December  

2011   
31 December  

2010 

US Dollar  1.8889  1.5487 

Euro  2.4438  2.0694 

2.2 Foreign exchange gains and losses included in the income statement 

As of 31 December 2011, net foreign exchange loss included in the income statement is 1,736 TL (31 

December 2010: 2,875 TL loss). 

III. Explanations on forward transactions, options and derivative instruments 

The Bank’s derivative transactions mainly consist of foreign currency swaps, foreign currency options 
and forward foreign currency purchase/sale contracts. The Bank does not have any embedded derivatives 
separated from the host contract. 

In accordance with TAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement", forward foreign 
currency purchase/sale contracts, swaps and options are classified as "hedging purpose" and "trading 
purpose" transactions. Derivatives are initially recognized at cost including the transaction costs. Also, the 
assets and liabilities arising from the derivative transactions are recorded as off-balance sheet items at their 
contractual notional amounts. The derivative transactions held for trading are valued at fair-value using 
market prices or pricing models subsequent to initial recognition and are presented in “derivative financial 
assets held for trading" or "derivative financial liabilities held for trading” items of the balance sheet 
depending on the difference's being positive or negative. The derivative transactions held for hedging are 
valued at fair value using market prices or pricing models subsequent to initial recognition and are 
presented in "derivative financial assets held for hedging purpose” or “derivative financial liabilities held 
for hedging" items of the balance sheet depending on the difference's being positive or negative. Gains 
and losses arising from a change in the fair value are recognized in the income statement. 

Until 30 November 2010, the Bank valued its long term fixed rate loan portfolio and corresponding swaps 
at fair value for fair value hedge purpose and accounted the gain and losses in the account of “gain/losses 
from derivative transactions”. As at 30 November 2010, the Bank has ceased the fair value hedge 
accounting. 
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IV. Explanations on interest income and expenses 

Interest income and expenses calculated using internal rate of return are recognized on accrual basis. In 

accordance with Banking Act No: 5411 Articles 53 and 93, based on the prevailing communique, interest 

accruals on loans became non-performing are reversed  and it is also ceased accrual calculation on such 

loans until these loans are classified as performing or collected. 

V. Explanations on fee and commission income and expenses  

Fee and commission income / expenses are recognized based on cash or accrual basis depending on the 

nature of the transaction. 

VI.  Explanations on financial assets 

Financial assets include cash on hand, contractual rights to receive cash or another financial asset from the 

counterparty or the right to exchange of financial instruments or equity instrument transactions of the 

counterparty. Financial assets are classified into four groups as financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, held to maturity investments, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.  

 

 1.            Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

1.1 Financial assets held for trading 

Financial assets held for trading are recognized at their fair values and any gain or losses resulting from 

such valuation are recorded in the profit and loss accounts. Interests received during the holding period of 

such financial assets and the difference between the amortized cost (calculated using internal rate of 

return) and the acquisition cost are recognized as interest income in the income statement. Gain and losses 

on sale of held for trading financial assets before their maturity and the difference between market value 

and amortized cost (calculated using internal rate of return) of such financial as assets are recognized in 

gains and losses on securities trading under income statement. 

1.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

None. 

2.         Available for sale financial assets  

Financial assets available-for-sale, are financial assets other than assets held for trading purposes, 

investments held-to-maturity and originated loans and receivables. 

Financial assets available-for-sale are measured at their fair values subsequently. 

Premiums and discounts on investments securities available-for-sale are taken into account in computing 

the internal rate of return and are included in interest income in the income statement. Unrecognised 

gain/losses derived from the difference between their fair value and the discounted values are recorded in 

“Marketable Securities Revaluation Reserve” under the shareholders’ equity. In case of sales, the realized 

gain/losses are recognized directly in the income statement.   

Purchase and sale transactions of securities are accounted at delivery dates. 
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3.         Held to maturity investments  

        None. 

4.         Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are financial assets, which are generated by providing funds, goods or services to 

the debtor. 
 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable repayment schedules and they are 

not traded in an active market. 
 
Loans except impaired ones mentioned below are initially measured at their acquisition cost and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost calculated using effective interest rate method in accordance 

with TAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. Duty charges, transaction fees and 

other expenses paid for the collaterals of the loans are considered as part of the transaction costs and 

charged to the customers. 

VII. Explanations on impairment of financial assets 

Financial asset or groups of financial assets are reviewed by the Bank at each balance sheet date to 

determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such indicator exists, the Bank 

determines the amount of impairment. 

 

Impairment loss incurs if, and only if, there is objective evidence that the reliably estimated future cash 

flows of financial asset or group of financial assets are adversely affected by an event(s) (“loss event(s)”) 

incurred subsequent to recognition.  

 

The Bank provides specific and general allowances for loan and other receivables classified in accordance 

with the Communiqué published on the Official Gazette No.2633 dated November 1, 2006. The 

allowances are recorded in the income statement of the related period. 

VIII. Explanations on offsetting financial instruments 

If the fair values of equity shares held for trading and quoted at the stock exchanges are lower than their 

carrying values, allowance for impairment is recognized and the recognized impairment is offset with the 

related assets on the face of the balance sheet. 

Specific allowances for non-performing loan and other receivables are provided in accordance with 

“Methods and Principles for the Determination of Loans and Other Receivables to be Reserved for and 

Allocation of Reserves”. Such allowances are offset with loans under follow-up on the asset side. 

Other financial assets and liabilities are offset when the Bank has a legally enforceable right to offset. 
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IX. Explanations on sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions 

Securities subject to repo (repurchase agreements) are classified as “Financial assets at fair value through 

profit and loss”, “Financial assets available for sale” or “Investments held to maturity” according to their 

purposes to be held in the Bank’s portfolio and evaluated within the principles of the relevant portfolio. 

Funds obtained from repurchase agreements are followed under the “Funds from repo transactions” 

account in liabilities, and interest expense accruals are calculated using the effective interest (internal rate 

of return) method on the difference between the sales and repurchase prices corresponding to the period 

designated by a repurchase agreement. 

 

Reverse repo transactions are recorded under the “Receivables from reverse repurchase agreements” 

account.  

X. Explanations on noncurrent assets held for sale and discontinued operations and the related 

liabilities 

Assets classified as “asset held for sale” are measured at the lower of the carrying value or fair value less 

costs to sell. Assets held for sale are not depreciated and presented in the financial statements separately. 

An asset (or a disposal group) is regarded as “asset held for sale” only when the sale is highly probable 

and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. For a highly 

probable sale, there must be a valid plan prepared by the management for the sale of asset including 

identification of possible buyers and completion of sale process. Furthermore, the asset should be actively 

marketed at a price consistent with its fair value. Events or circumstances may extend the tender process is 

the completion time of a surplus of more than a year. Such events or circumstances beyond the control of 

business because of the delay occurred and about the business of the asset (or disposal group) that there is 

enough evidence to continue to plan for selling the assets, are classified as assets held-for-sale is 

continued. 

A discontinued operation is a part of the Bank’s business classified as disposed or held-for-sale. The 

operating results of the discontinued operations are disclosed separately in the income statement. 

XI. Explanations on goodwill and other intangible assets  

As at the balance sheet date there is no goodwill in the accompanying financial statements. The intangible 

assets of the Bank consist of software, intangible rights and other intangible assets. 

The costs of the intangible assets purchased before 1 January 2005 are recognized at their inflation 

adjusted costs as of 31 December 2004 and intangible assets purchased after 1 January 2005 are 

recognized at their acquisition cost less accumulated amortization and impairment, if any. 

Estimated useful lives of the intangible assets are 3 to 10 years, and amortization rates are 10% to 33.3%. 

If there is objective evidence of impairment, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated in accordance 

with the Turkish Accounting Standard 36 (TAS 36) “Impairment of Assets” and if the recoverable amount 

is less than the carrying value of the related asset, an allowance for impairment is recognized. 
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XII. Explanations on tangible assets 

Tangible assets are measured at cost in accordance with the Turkish Accounting Standard 16 “Tangible 

Assets”. 

The costs of the tangible assets purchased before 1 January 2005 are recognized at their inflation adjusted 

costs as of 31 December 2004 and tangible assets purchased after 1 January 2005 are recognized at their 

acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. 

If there is objective evidence of impairment, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated in accordance 

with the Turkish Accounting Standard 36 (TAS 36) “Impairment of Assets” and if the recoverable amount 

is less than the carrying value of the related asset, an allowance for impairment is recognized. 

Gains/losses from the sale of the tangible assets are calculated as the difference between the net book 

value and the net sales price. 

Maintenance and repair costs incurred for tangible assets, are recorded as expense. 

There are no restrictions such as pledges, mortgages or any other restriction on tangible assets. 

There are no changes in the accounting estimates that are expected to have an impact in the current or 

subsequent periods. 

Depreciation rates and estimated useful lives are: 

Tangible  Assets Estimated useful lives 

(years)  

Depreciation Rate 

(%) 

Safe boxes 2-50 2-50 

Vehicles 5 20 

Other Tangible Assets 4-50 2-25 

   

XIII. Explanations on leasing transactions 

The Bank does not have any finance lease contract as a “lesser” or “lessee”. 

 

If the operating lease contracts are terminated earlier than their maturity dates, the penalty charges to be 

paid to the lesser are recorded as expense at the end of the leasing period based on the cash payment. 

There is no operating lease contract terminated earlier than the maturity date.  

XIV. Explanations on provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions and contingent liabilities other than specific and generic provisions for loan and 
other receivable losses are accounted in accordance with TAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent 

Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. When there is a present obligation that arises from past 

events, provision is recognized by the estimated amount of the obligation. If the amount of the 

obligation can not be estimated reliably, it has been considered as "contingent liability". If the 

probability of the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events confirming the existence of 
the obligation is higher than its non occurrence and the amount of the obligation can be 

measured with sufficient reliability, provision is recognized. If not, the obligation is disclosed as 

contingent liability.  

Provisions recognized during the period are recognized within “other operating expenses”; 

reversals of provisions recognized in the prior periods are recognized within “other operating 

income”. 
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XV. Explanations on contingent assets  

The contingent assets usually arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to 

the possibility of an inflow of economic benefits to the Bank. If an inflow of economic benefits 

has become probable, then the contingent asset is disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the 
asset and the related income are recognized in the financial statements of the period in which 

the change occurs. 

XVI. Explanations on liabilities for employee benefits 

As per the existing labour law in Turkey, the entities are required to pay 30 days’ salary for 

each working year to the employees retired or fired except for resignations or misbehaviours 

specified in the Turkish Labour Law. The Bank recognizes its obligations relating to the rights 

of by using actuarial method and discounts with the average rate of return on government 

bonds valid as at the balance sheet date in accordance with TAS 19 "Employee Benefits".  

The major actuarial assumptions used in the calculation of the total liability are as follows: 

 31 December  2011 

% 

31 December  2010 

% 

Discount Rate 10.0 10.0 

Inflation Rate  5.1 5.1 

Total liabilities are calculated by applying the ceiling of severance pay. As of 31 December 2011, the 

current severance pay ceiling is 2,731.85 full TL. (31December, 2010: 2,517.01 full TL). 

The Bank provided for undiscounted short-term employee benefits earned during the financial periods as 

per services rendered in compliance with TAS 19. 

The Bank does not have any employee working for a limited term contract whose contract term expires 

longer than 12 months. 

There has not been any employee foundation, fund or similar institutions. 
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XVII. Explanations on taxation 

1. Current tax 

Statutory income is subject to corporate tax at 20% effective from January 1, 2006 according to Corporate 
Tax Law No: 5520 published in Official Gazette No: 26205 dated 21 June 2006. 

Corporate tax return is declared between the 1
st
 and 25

th
 day of the fourth month following the first day of 

the fiscal year end and paid until the end of the fourth month as a single installment.  

In accordance with the Corporate Tax Law, the tax losses can be carried forward to offset 

against future taxable income for up to five years. Declarations and related accounting records 

can be inspected within 5 years by tax authorities and the tax calculations can be controlled.  

Since 24 April 2003, including the year 2002 and earlier periods, the period income is not subject to 

withholding tax if it is not distributed, is transferred to share capital or is distributed to resident companies 

while the profit distribution to the resident natural persons, to the ones exempt from corporate and income 

taxes, to the foreign based tax payers (except the ones generating dividend income through their 

operations or permanent representative offices in Turkey) is subject to withholding tax at 10% of the profit 

distribution. As per decision of the Council of Ministers No. 2006/10731, dated 22 July 2006 the profit 

distribution to the resident natural persons, to the ones exempt from corporate and income taxes, to the 

foreign based tax payers (except the ones generating dividend income through their operations or 

permanent representative offices in Turkey) is subject to withholding tax at 15% of the profit distribution 

as of 23 July 2006. 

The corporate tax base of 8,694 TL for the year ended 31 December 2011 is eliminated from the last 

period of financial loss. 

There is no corporate tax liability of the Bank as of 31 December 2011.  

2. Deferred tax 

The Bank calculates and recognizes tax for taxable temporary differences arising between the carrying 

values of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their corresponding balances considered in 

the calculation of the tax base according to the Turkish Accounting Standard 12 (TAS 12) “Income 

Taxes”.  

The deferred tax asset is 20,472 TL and arises mostly from carry forward tax losses (31 December  2010: 

22,795 TL). The deferred tax asset is calculated as the net of carry forward tax losses, taxable and 

deductible temporary differences. 

Deferred tax benefit/(charge) is recognized within “Deferred tax benefit/(charge)” in the income 

statement. As of 31 December 2011, deferred tax charge is 2,754 TL(31 December 2010: 870 TL deferred 

tax benefit). Deferred tax effects of the  transactions and events recognized directly in the shareholders’ 

equity are also recognized directly in the shareholders’ equity which is 431 TL as of 31 December 2011 

(31 December 2010: None). 
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3. Transfer Pricing 

The Article No.13 of the Corporate Tax Law describes the issue of transfer pricing under the title of 

“disguised profit distribution” by way of transfer pricing. “The General Communiqué on Disguised Profit 

Distribution by Way of Transfer Pricing” published at 18 November 2007, explains the application related 

issues on this topic.  

According to this Communiqué, if the taxpayers conduct transactions like purchase and sale of goods or 

services with the related parties where the prices are not determined according to the arm’s length 

principle, then it will be concluded that there is a disguised profit distribution by way of transfer pricing. 

Such disguised profit distributions will not be deducted from the corporate tax base for tax purposes. 

As stated in the “7.1 Annual Documentation” section of this communiqué, the taxpayers are required to 

fill out the “Transfer Pricing, Controlled Foreign Entities and Thin Capitalization” form for the purchase 

and sale of goods or services conducted with their related parties in a taxation period, attach these forms to 

their corporate tax returns and submit to the tax offices. 

XVIII. Additional explanations on borrowings 

Borrowing funds are initially measured at acquisition cost and subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

In the accompanying financial statements, foreign currency denominated borrowing funds are converted to 

Turkish Lira with the Bank’s spot foreign exchange buying rates and interest expenses incurred during the 

period relating to the borrowing funds are recognized in income statement. 

The Bank applies general hedging techniques for mitigating the liquidity risk, interest rate risk and 

currency risk of the borrowing funds. Those techniques do not meet the definition of hedge accounting 

according to TAS 39. 

There are no convertible bonds or any other bonds issued by the Bank as at the balance sheet date. 

On 2 December 2011, the Bank has been given permission by the BRSA for the purpose of issuing bond 

with a maturity up to 360-days and 150,000 TL limit. The offering circular has been approved by the 

Capital Market Board on 10 January 2012 and it has been registered to the Istanbul Trade Register Office 

on 19 January 2012. 

XIX. Explanations on share certificates issued 

Transactions related with the issueance of share certificates are explained in Note 5.II.11. 

Dividend on share certificates has not been declared after the balance sheet date.  

XX. Explanations on bank acceptances and bills of guarantee 

Bank acceptances and bills of guarantee are presented within off-balance sheet liabilities as being possible 

liabilities and commitments. Cash transactions relating to bank acceptances and bills of guarantee are 

realized concurrently with the customer payments. 

As of the balance sheet date, there are any bank acceptances and bills of guarantee recognized as liability 

against an asset.  

XXI. Explanation on government incentives 

As of the balance sheet date, the Bank does not have any government incentives. 
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XXII. Explanations on segment reporting 

The Bank operates in customer banking services, individual customer current accounts, 

deposit accounts, long term investment products, clearing and custody services, credit and atm 

services, customer credits, long term real estate loans, and all the other kinds of customer 

banking services and commercial services. 

   

Other Total Operations of the Bank Current Period– 31 December 2011 Treasury 

Operating Income 3,394 87,603 90,997 

Operating Profit/(Loss) 2,673 5,268 7,941 

      Tax Expense     (2,754) 

Net Profit for the Year     5,187 

      Segment Assets 105,542 2,333,585 2,439,127 

      Undivided Assets     47,622 

Total Assets     2,486,749 

      Segment Liabilities 62,050 2,064,109 2,126,159 

      Undivided Liabilities     127,337 

      Owners’ Equity       233,253 

Total Liabilities     2,486,749 

 
   

Other Total Operations of the Bank Prior Period – 31 December 2010 Treasury 

    

Operating Income 3,896  28,946  32,842  

Operating Profit/(Loss) 2,181 (17,693) (15,512) 

      Tax Benefit     870 

Net Loss for the Year     (14,642) 

      Segment Assets 183,985  681,491  865,476  

      Undivided Assets     36,763  

Total Assets     902,239  

      Segment Liabilities 138,990  644,580  783,570  

      Undivided Liabilities     11,341  

      Owners’ Equity      107,328  

Total Liabilities     902,239  

XXIII. Explanations on other matters 

None. 
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SECTION FOUR 

  INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL STRUCTURE 

I. Explanations on capital adequacy ratio 

As of 31 December 2011, the unconsolidated capital adequacy ratio is 17.22% (31 December 2010: 

15.02%).  

1. Risk measurement method for determining capital adequacy ratio 

Capital adequacy ratio is calculated in accordance with the Communiqué on "Measurement and 

Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks” published in the Official Gazette No: 26333 dated 1 

November 2006. In the calculation of capital adequacy ratio, the accounting records prepared 

in compliance with the current legislation are used.  

According to the legislation mentioned above, the value at operational risk is also taken into consideration 

in the calculation of capital adequacy ratio since 30 September 2007. 

Additionally, the value at market risk is calculated in accordance with the Communiqué on the 

"Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks" and taken into consideration in the 

calculation of capital adequacy ratio. 

Deductions from capital are not included in the calculation of risk-weighted assets, non-cash loans and 

contingent liabilities. Assets subject to depreciation/amortization and impairment are considered with their 

net values (gross amounts less accumulated depreciation/amortization and impairment) in the calculation 

of risk-weighted assets. 
In the calculation of the value at credit risk, non-cash loans are accounted at their net 

amounts, which is gross amounts less specific provisions that are classified under liabilities 
and calculated based on the “Regulation on Identification of Non-Performing Loans and Other 

Receivables and Provision against them”, multiplied by the loan conversion rates stated in the 

Article 12, subsection 3 of  the “Regulation on  Loan Transactions of the Banks” and the 

converted non cash loan amounts are weighted by the weight of the risk group determined 

based on the counterparty and the type of the collateral. 

In the calculation of the value at credit risk, derivative financial instruments are converted to 
their loan equivalents by the loan conversion rates stated in the Article 5 of the Communiqué 

on the "Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks" and the converted 

amounts are weighted with the weights of the relevant risk group. 
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2. Information on the unconsolidated capital adequacy ratio 

  30.06.2009  

  

  0% 10% 20% 50% 100% 150% 200% 

Risk Weighted Assets and Non-Cash 

Loans        

Balance Sheet Items (Net) 314,981 -- 14,348 705,692 1,356,924 8,546 4,612 

Cash and Cash equivalents 16,104 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Matured Marketable Securities -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Due From Central Bank of Turkey 101,402 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

        Due From Domestic Banks, Foreign Banks, 

Branches and Head Office Abroad 

-- -- 14,348 -- 4,555 -- -- 

Interbank Money Market Placements -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Receivables from Reverse Repurchase Transactions -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Reserve Deposits 125,879 -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Loans 48,963 -- -- 568,777 1,301,529 8,546 4,612 

Non-performing loans (Net)  -- -- -- -- 11,641 -- -- 

Financial Lease Receivables -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Available-For-Sale Financial Assets -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Held to Maturity Investments -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

        Receivables From Installment Sales of 

Assets 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Sundry Debtors -- -- -- -- 961 -- -- 

Interest and Income Accruals 2,035 -- -- 136,915 23,659 -- -- 

        Subsidiaries, Associates and Entities Under 

        Common Control (Joint Vent.) (Net)) 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Tangible Assets -- -- -- -- 12,337 -- -- 

Other Assets 20,598 -- -- -- 2,242 -- -- 

Off-Balance Sheet Items 919 -- 24,717 10,579 128,360 -- -- 

Non-Cash Loans and Commitments 919 -- 4,851 10,579 119,235 -- -- 

Derivative Financial Instruments -- -- 19,866 -- 9,125 -- -- 

Non Risk Weighted Accounts -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Total Risk Weighted Assets 315,900 -- 39,065 716,271 1,485,284 8,546 4,612 

 

3. Summary information related to the capital adequacy ratio: 

  Current 

Period 

Prior  

Period 

Total Risk Weighted Assets (VACR) 1,873,276 443,778 

Amount Subject to Market Risk (VAMR) 72,513 107,463 

Amount Subject to Operational Risk (VAOR)  62,486 73,827 

Shareholders’ Equity 345,914 93,902 

Shareholders’ Equity / (VACR + VAMR + VAOR) *100 17.22% 15.02% 
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4.           Information related to the components of shareholders' equity: 

  
Current 

Period 

Prior 

 Period 

CORE CAPITAL 325,000 202,535 

Paid-in capital 325,000 202,535 

Nominal capital -- -- 

Capital commitments (-) 17,416 17,416 

Inflation adjustment to share capital -- -- 

Share premium  -- -- 

Share cancellation profits -- -- 

Legal reserves -- -- 

First legal reserve (Turkish Commercial Code 466/1) -- -- 

Second legal reserve (Turkish Commercial Code 466/2) -- -- 

Other legal reserve per special legislation  -- -- 

Statutory reserves -- -- 

Extraordinary reserves -- -- 

Reserves allocated by the General Assembly -- -- 

Retained earnings -- -- 

Accumulated losses -- -- 

Foreign currency share capital exchange difference -- -- 

Inflation adjustment to legal reserves, status reserves and extraordinary reserves -- -- 

Profit 5,187 -- 

Net income for the period 5,187 -- 

Prior years’ income -- -- 

Provision for possible risks up to 25% of the Core Capital -- -- 

Profit on disposal of associates, subsidiaries and immovables to be transferred to share capital 9,502 9,502 

Primary subordinated loans up to 15% of the Core Capital -- -- 

Uncovered portion of loss with reserves (-) 122,125 122,125 

Net current period loss -- 14,642 

Prior years’ loss 122,125 107,483 

Leasehold improvements (-)  5,596 4,705 

Prepaid expenses (-)  -- 1,023 

Intangible assets (-)  6,074 2,044 

Deferred tax asset amount exceeding 10% of the Core Capital (-) -- 12,839 

Limit Exceeding Amount Regarding the Third Clause of the Article 56 of the Law (-) --                   --  

Total Core Capital 223,310 86,717 

SUPPLEMENTARY CAPITAL   

General loan loss provisions 22,753 7,185 

45% of the revaluation reserve for movable fixed assets -- -- 

45% of the of revaluation reserve for properties -- -- 

Bonus shares obtained from associates, subsidiaries and entities under common control -- -- 

Primary subordinated loans that are not considered in the calculation of Core Capital -- -- 

Secondary subordinated loans  101,650 -- 

45% of marketable securities valuation fund (1,727) -- 

From investments in associates and subsidiaries -- -- 

From available-for-sale financial assets (1,727) -- 

Inflation adjustment to capital reserve, profit reserve and prior years’ income or loss (Except inflation 

adjustment to legal reserves, status reserves and extraordinary reserves) -- -- 

Total Supplementary Capital 122,676 7,185 

TIER III CAPITAL -- -- 

CAPITAL  345,986 93,902 

DEDUCTIONS FROM THE CAPITAL 72 -- 

Shareholdings of banks and financial institutions (Domestic, Foreign) from which the Bank keeps ten 

percent or more of capitals -- -- 

Shareholdings of unconsolidated banks and financial institutions (Domestic, Foreign) from which the 

Bank keeps less than ten percent of capitals which exceed the ten percent of Bank’s Core and 

Supplementary Capital  -- -- 

The secondary subordinated loans extended to banks, financial Institutions (domestic or 

foreign) or significant shareholders of the Bank and the debt instruments that have primary or 

secondary subordinated loan nature purchased from them -- -- 

Loans extended as contradictory to the articles 50 And 51 of the law -- -- 

Excess of 50% of the Bank’s immovables’ total net book value and net book value of 

immovables obtained against Bank’s receivables that must be disposed according to article 57 

of the Banking Act which could not be disposed although five years have passed since the 

acquisition date -- -- 

Other 72 -- 

Total Shareholders’ Equity 345,914 93,902 
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4.        Information related to the components of shareholders' equity (continued) 
 

 (*)  According to Official Gazette No: 27870 Communiqué concerning “the Changes of Regulations Related with Shareholders 

Equity”, prepaid expenditures are not deducted from paid capital as of 10 March 2011. 

(**)  As of 20 September 2011, the Bank has taken a decision to increase its paid in capital by 41,000,000 Euro in terms of TL 

equivalent. 52,250 TL of the capital increase was  transferred to the Bank on 10 October 2011; while the remaining 49,400 TL 

was transferred on 1 December 2011. As of  31 December 2011, such amounts are paid in capital is accounted under the “Sundry 

Creditors”. Following the approval of BRSA, the extraordinary General Assembly was held on 26 January 2012 and the increase 

in paid in capital was registered. Therefore, the Bank’s capital has increased to 426,650 TL. 

 

II.   Explanations on credit risk 

 
Credit risk is defined as risks and losses that may occur if the counterparty fails to comply with the 

agreement’s requirements and cannot perform its obligations partially or completely on the terms set. 

In terms of credit risk, a debtor or a  group of debtors is subject to risk limits.The risk limits of the debtors 

or group of debtors and sectoral risk limits are monitored  weekly, while sectors are monitored via 

monthly reports. 

Risk limits and concentration of daily transactions are monitored daily. Risk concentration of off balance 

sheet risks is monitored via on the job and remote audit facilities. 

Commercial loans’ and other receivables’ credit worthiness is monitored regularly in accordance with 

relative legislation. By using relevant risk rating models, in case of increasing risk level of debtor, new 

credit limits are determined and additional collateral is obtained. For new credits, documents of account 

status are provided in accordance with relevant legislation.  

In accordance with the lending policies, the debtor’s creditworthiness is analysed and the adequate 

collateral is obtained based on the financial position of the company and the type of loan; like cash 

collateral, bank guarantees, mortgages, pledges, bills and personal or corporate guarantees. 

There are credit limits on the basis of VaR on the positions of Bank’s future and option transaction 

contract and other contracts and credit risk arising from those transactions is managed together with 

market risk.  

The liquidated non-cash loans are subject to the same risk weighting with the overdue loans. 

For foreign trade financing and interbank loan transactions, Bank uses a correspondent network. In this 

context, Bank establishes a limit through monitoring the credit worthiness of foreign banks and other 

financial entities, and such entities are periodically evaluated. 

The Bank does not have a material credit risk concentration as an active participant in the international 

banking market when the financial operations of the other financial institutions are concerned. 

The cash loans and receivables of the Bank from its top 100 cash loan customers compose 63% of all cash 

loans portfolio (2010: 44%). 

The non-cash loans of the Bank from its top 100 non-cash loan customers compose 95% of all non-cash 

loans portfolio (2010: 99%). 

The cash and non-cash loans and receivables of the Bank from its top 100 loan customer compose 51% of 

balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets (2010: 46%).  

As of 31 December 2011 the general loan loss provision amount recognized for the credit risk of the Bank 

is 22,753TL (2010: 7,185 TL).  
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II.       Explanations on credit risk (continued) 

1. Customer and geographical concentration of credit risk: 

  
Loans to Real Persons 

and Legal Entities 

Loans to Banks and 

Other Financial Institutions Marketable Securities* Other Loans** 

 
Current 

Period 

Prior  

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 
Prior Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Loans according to 

borrowers 
        

Private Sector    1,644,428 323,762 191,815 -- 24,267 -- 247,030 76,268 

Public Sector --  --  227,281 41,523 27,882 94,556 -- -- 

Banks --  --  18,903 73,346 -- -- 10,847 2,042 

Retail (Individual Customer) 270,434 316,238 -- -- -- -- 8,151 1,084 

Share Certificates --  --  -- -- 14 14 -- -- 

Total 1,914,862  640,000 437,999 114,869 52,163 94,570 266,028 79,394 

Information according to 

geographical concentration 
        

Domestic 1,914,862 640,000 419,104 41,530 52,149 94,556 254,962 77,348 
 

European Union Countries -- -- 10,695 67,710 14 14 9,781 2,046 

OECD Countries*** -- -- 3,980 131 -- -- 818 -- 
 

Off-shore Banking Regions -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 
 

USA, Canada -- -- 4,220 5,498 -- -- -- -- 

Other Countries -- -- -- -- -- -- 467 -- 

Total 1,914,862 640,000 437,999 114,869 52,163 94,570 266,028 79,394 

*     Marketable securities consist at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity.   

**    Including non-cash loans and irrevocable commitments. 

*** OECD countries other than European Union countries, USA and Canada. 

2. Information according to geographical concentration  

Current Period Assets Liabilities 
Non-Cash 

Loans 

Capital 

Expenditures 
Net Income 

Domestic 2,467,840  2,404,160  217,310                 14,332 5,187 

European Union Countries 10,709  65,118  9,781 --  --  

OECD Countries               3,980             2,814              818   --   

Off-shore Banking Regions                    --                   9,623                 --                       --   --  

USA, Canada              4,220 1,972                 --                       --   --  

Other Countries -- 3,062              467                       --   --  

Associates, Subsidiaries and 

Entities Under Common Control 

(Joint Vent.)                      --                       --                 --                       --   --  

Unallocated Assets/Liabilities --  --  --  --  --  

Total 2,486,749  2,486,749 228,376              14,332 5,187 

Prior Period 

 Assets Liabilities 

Non-Cash 

Loans 

Capital 

Expenditures Net Loss 

Domestic 826,840  756,989  77,081                 1,537 (14,642) 

European Union Countries 69,770  141,323  -- --  --  

OECD Countries                 131  818                 --                       --   --  

Off-shore Banking Regions                    --                       --                 --                       --   --  

USA, Canada              5,498 1,101                 --                       --   --  

Other Countries -- 2,008                 --                       --   --  

Associates, Subsidiaries and 

Entities Under Common Control 

(Joint Vent.) -- -- -- -- -- 

Unallocated Assets/Liabilities -- -- -- -- -- 

Total 902,239  902,239 77,081                1,537 (14,642)  
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II. Explanations on credit risk (continued) 

3. Sector concentrations for cash loans: 

  Current Period Prior Period 

TL % FC % TL % FC % 

         

Agricultural 32,880 2.31 2,259 0.34  1,106  0.18 -- -- 

    Farming and Raising Livestock  9,510 0.67 2,259 0.34  956  0.16 -- -- 

    Forestry  23,370 1.64  --  --  150  0.02  -- -- 

    Fishing -- -- --   --  -- -- -- -- 

Manufacturing 368,166 25.87 311,381 46.31  134,567  22.17 17,107 88.97  

    Mining and Quarry  65,081 4.57 48,034 7.14  9,345  1.54 --  --  

    Production 257,862 18.12 234,179 34.83  124,682  20.54 17,107  88.97  

    Electricity, Gas and Water 45,223 3.18 29,168 4.34  540  0.09 --  --  

Construction 211,607 14.88 78,679 11.70  65,349  10.77 --  --  

Services 523,207 36.78 240,581 35.79  92,492  15.24 2,121  11.03  

   Wholesale and Retail Trade 63,587 4.47 6,331 0.94 10,061 1.66 1,974 10.27 

   Hotel, Food and Beverage 43,532 3.06 187,708 27.92 28,832 4.75 -- -- 

   Transportation and telecommunication                         81,540 5.73 29,283 4.36  23,318  3.84 --  --  

    Financial Institutions 268,944 18.90 --  --  3,209  0.53 --  --  

    Real Estate and Renting Services 6,380 0.45 -- --  1,745  0.29 --  --  

Self-Employment Services 3,825 0.27 --  --  13,861  2.28 147  0.76 

Education Services 2,550 0.18 --   --  2,637  0.43 --  --  

Health and Social Services 52,849 3.72 17,259 2.57  8,829  1.46 --  --  

Other 286,873 20.16 39,403 5.86  313,392  51.64 --  --  

Total 1,422,733 100.00 672,303 100.00 606,906 100.00 19,228  100.00 

 

4. Information on collaterals, impairment, rating and maturity related to loans granted to real persons 

and corporate entities 

Detail of collaterals of standard and close monitoring loans granted to real persons and corporate entities 

is as follows: 

Cash loans granted to real persons and corporate entities  

Standard Loans  

Loans and Other 

Receivables Under 

Close Monitoring  

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

     

Secured Loans:  2,030,512 583,355 36,720 24,777 

 Secured by cash collateral 50,858 20,946 116 253 

 Secured by mortgages 672,214 480,510 33,598 23,299 
 Secured by treasury guarantees or securities issued by public sector 24 283 -- -- 
 Guarantees issued by financial institutions -- -- -- -- 
 Other collaterals (being on the pledges, corporate and 

  personal guarantees, promissory notes) 1,307,416 81,616 3,006 1,225 
 Non-secured Loans 27,503 17,527 301 475 

Total performing loans  2,058,015 600,882 37,021 25,252 
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II.      Explanations on credit risk (continued) 

 

4.  Information on collaterals, impairment, rating and maturity related to loans granted to real persons 

and corporate entities (continued) 

Detail of collaterals of non-cash loans granted to real persons and corporate entities is as follows: 

Non-cash loans granted to real persons and corporate 

entities 

Standard Loans 

Loans and Other 

Receivables Under 

Close Monitoring 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

     

Secured Loans: 214,816 76,564 1,420 517 

Cash secured loans 1,838 856 -- 58 

Secured  loans with real estate mortgage 21,158 2,947 -- -- 

Secure loans with treasury guarantees or public 

marketable securities -- -- -- -- 

Guarantees issued by financial institutions -- -- -- -- 

Other collaterals (being on the pledges, corporate and 

  personal guarantees, promissory notes) 191,820 72,761 1,420 459 

Non-secured Loans 11,839 -- 301 -- 

Total performing loans  226,655 76,564 1,721 517 

 

The fair value of collaterals relating to loans that are past due and impaired:  

 

 Current Period Prior Period 

 Non-Performing Collateral Non-Performing Collateral 

     

Mortgage 11,851 21,837 15,980 21,642 

Vehicle 483 310 606 568 

Other Collaterals 3,529 6,027 598 1,099 

Non-secured 505 -- 4,036 -- 

Total 16,368 28,174 21,220 23,309 

 
The Bank has developed an internal risk rating model for loans used by corporate, commercial and 

medium-sized companies. Concentration table of cash and non cash loan according to the risk rating 

system developed by the Bank for commercial customers is shown below: 

 
Current Period (%) Prior Period (%) 

Above Average 9.16 0.02 

Average 84.49 95.28 

Below Average 6.35 4.70 

Total 100.00 100.00 
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II. Explanations on credit risk (continued) 

 

4. Information on collaterals, impairment, rating and maturity related to loans granted to real     persons 

and corporate entities (continued) 

 

Information on overdue/not past due loans and receivables from real persons and corporate entities:  

 

Current Period 

Neither past due nor 

impaired 

Past due but not 

impaired 

Impaired 

(Gross) 
 

Total 

Loans and advances to customers     

Commercial loans 1,818,207 6,393 13,944 1,838,544 

Consumer loans 230,291 39,656 2,393 272,340 

Credit Cards 482 7 31 520 

Total 2,048,980 46,056 16,368 2,111,404 

 

 

 

Prior Period 

 

 

Neither past due 

nor impaired 

 

 

Past due but not 

impaired 

 

 

    Impaired  

(Gross) Total 

Loans and advances to customers     

Commercial loans 310,417 2,323 17,215 329,955 

Consumer loans 301,590 11,245 3,956 316,791 

Credit Cards 548 11 49 608 

Total 612,555 13,579 21,220 647,354 

 

There is no past due and/or individually impaired amount in banks, securities and other loans. 

III. Explanations on market risk 

Whether the bank within the financial risk management objectives hedges itself against market risk, 
the precautions taken by the Board of Directors for market risk, the methods used for measuring 
market risk and time intervals for measurement of market risk 

 

The Bank has established market risk management operations and taken the necessary precautions in order 

to hedge market risk within its financial risk management purposes, in accordance with the Communiqué 

on “Measurement and Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks” issued on Official Gazette dated 

November 1, 2006 numbered 26333. 

Being exposed to market risk, Bank’s Board of Directors have defined risk management strategies and 

policies about risk managements in line with application and recommendation of Group Risk Commision 

and Group Risk Office and have led to follow-up strategies periodically. The limits of risks are identified 

and these limits are revised periodically. Board of Directors ensure that risk management group and 

executive managers should idetify, measure, control and manage the Bank’s risk. 

Market risk arising from trading transactions is measured by using developed internal model with value at 

risk (VaR) methodology. The Bank measures the market risk with variance-covariance model, 

parametrically. Measurements can be done with online connection with treasury front office in real time. 

Market risk occurred between mismatches of asset-liability maturity is also monitored through GAP 

report. 
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III. Explanations on market risk (continued) 

Stress tests and scenario analysis are also applied in order to reflect the effects of prospective severe 

market fluctuations in the VaR calculations. Risk measurement methods such as cash flow projection, 

duration, GAP analyze are also applied.  

Capital should be kept for general market risk and specific risk are calculated by using a standard method 

in accordence with “Measurement and Assessment of Bank Capital Adequacy Regulation” and reported 

monthly. 

                 

1. Information related to market risk 

  Bank 

(I) Capital Requirement to be Employed For General Market Risk - Standard Method  3,924 

(II) Capital Requirement to be Employed For Specific Risk - Standard Method  850 

(III) Capital Requirement to be Employed For Currency Risk - Standard Method  1,027 

(IV) Capital Requirement to be Employed For Commodity Risk – Standard Method  -- 

(V) Capital Requirement to be Employed For Settlement Risk - Standard Method  -- 

(VI) Total Capital Requirement to be Employed For Market Risk Resulting From Options - Standard Method -- 

(VII) Total Capital Requirement to be Employed For Market Risk in Banks Using Risk Measurement Model  -- 

(VIII) Total Capital Requirement to be Employed For Market Risk (I+II+III+IV+V+VI)  5,801 

(IX) Amount Subject to Market Risk (12.5 x VIII) or (12.5 x VII) 72,513 

2. Average market risk table calculated at month end during the period: 

 

 Current Period Prior Period 

  Average Maximum Minimum Average Maximum Minimum 

Interest Rate Risk 2,199  4,774  810  1,504  8,217  668  

Common Stock Risk                --                 --                 --      --                 --  --  

Currency Risk 896              974  442  783  337  606  

Commodity Risk                 6                --                 --  --  --  --  

Settlement Risk                --                 --                 --  --  --  --  

Option Risk 77               53  42  25  43  5  

Total Value Subject to Risk 
 

39,725  

 

72,513  

 

16,175  28,900  107,463 15,988  

IV. Explanations on operational risk 

The Bank used the “Basic Indicators Approach” in computation of its operational risk. In accordance with 
the 4th section (Computation of the Operational Risk) which is valid after 1 June 2007, of the “Regulation 
on Measurement and Evaluation of the Capital Adequacy of the Banks”, published in the Official Gazette 
dated 1 November 2006 and numbered 26333, operational risk is computed using the gross income of the 
Bank for three years (2010, 2009 and 2008). As explained in detail in footnote I of this section, the 
amount 62,486 TL which is 8% of 4,999 TL, is presenting the operational risk liability. 4,999 TL is also 
the minimum capital amount kept to cover the risk. 
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V. Explanations on currency risk 

The Bank does not take foreign exchange and parity risk; transactions are instantly hedged in accordance 

with Central Bank of Turkey. Measurable and manageable risks are taken within legal limits. 

Position limit on currency risk is determined in line with net general position standard ratio on foreign 

currency. As of 31 December 2011, the Bank's net short position is 8,363 TL (31 December 2010: 1,836 

TL net short position) resulting from long position on the balance sheet amounting to 801,641 TL (31 

December 2010: 79,320 TL long position) and short position on the off-balance amounting to 810,004 

TL(31 December 2010:81,156 short position) . 

The Bank uses “Standard Method” used in legal reporting to measure the foreign exchange risk.  

The announced current foreign exchange buying rates of the Bank at December 31, 2011 and the previous 

five working days in full TL are as follows: 

 

US Dollar purchase rate as at the balance sheet date  1.8889 TL 

Euro purchase rate as at the balance sheet date  2.4438 TL 

 

Date USD EUR 

26 December 2011 1.8833 2.4613 

27 December 2011 1.8847 2.4633 

28 December 2011 1.8897 2.4702 

29 December 2011 1.9065 2.4592 

30 December 2011 1.8889 2.4438 

The simple arithmetic average US Dollar and Euro purchase rates for December 2011 are 1.8610 TL and 
2.4518 TL, respectively. 
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V. Explanations on currency risk (continued) 

Current Period  Euro USD JPY Other Total 

Assets      

Cash and Balances with the Central Bank of 

Turkey 5,527 158,994 6 1,155 165,682 

Banks 6,847 4,979 22 6,933 18,781 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through 

Profit/Loss  598 10,532 -- -- 11,130 

Money Market Placements -- -- -- -- -- 

Financial Assets Available for Sale  14 15,830 -- -- 15,844 

Loans (*) 309,042 654,045 -- 192,366 1,155,453 

Subsidiaries, Associates and Entities Under 

Common Control (Joint Vent.) -- -- -- -- -- 

Investments Held to Maturity -- -- -- -- -- 

Derivative Financial Assets Held for 

Hedging Purposes -- -- -- -- -- 

Tangible Assets -- -- -- -- -- 

Intangible Assets -- -- -- -- -- 

Other Assets   90 98 -- -- 188 

Total Assets 322,118 844,478 28 200,454 1,367,078 

Liabilities      

Banks Deposits 12,579 19,881 -- 121 32,581 

Foreign Currency Deposits 131,930 351,724 -- 15,767 499,421 

Money Market Funds -- -- -- -- -- 

Funds Provided from Other Financial 

Institutions 27,003 1,638 -- -- 28,641 

Marketable Securities Issued 92 1,669 -- 7 1,768 

Sundry Creditors -- -- -- -- -- 

Derivative Financial Liabilities Held for 

Hedging Purposes -- -- -- -- -- 

Other Liabilities 1,799 1,134 -- 93 3,026 

Total Liabilities 173,403 376,046 -- 15,988 565,437 
      

Net Balance Sheet Position 148,715 468,432 28 184,466 801,641 

Net Off-Balance Sheet Position (149,154) (472,866) -- (187,984) (810,004) 

Financial Derivative Assets (**) 140,050 862,279 1,959 234,714 1,239,002 

Financial Derivative Liabilities (**) 289,204 1,335,145 1,959 422,698 2,049,006 

Non-Cash Loans (***) 59,121 85,617 -- -- 144,738 

      

Prior Period      

Total Assets 139,366 192,218 46 237,495 569,125 

Total Liabilities 238,704 243,913 -- 7,188 489,805 

Net  Balance Sheet Position (99,338) (51,695) 46 230,307 79,320 

Net  Off-Balance Sheet Position 99,754 49,484 -- (230,394) (81,156) 

Financial Derivative Assets (**) 101,232 285,754 -- 8,664 395,650 

Financial Derivative Liabilities (**) 1,478 236,270 -- 239,058 476,806 

Non-Cash Loans (***) 8,292 3,678 -- -- 11,970 

 

(*)    Foreign currency indexed loans and accruals amounting to 483,150 TL are included.  

(**) Derivative financial assets include foreign exchange purchase commitments amounting to 231,544 TL (31 December 2010: 

3,104 TL) while derivative financial liabilities include foreign exchange sale commitments and marketable securities sale 

commitments amounting to 240,889 TL (31 December 2010: 3,101 TL foreign exchange sale commitments and 2,345 TL 

marketable securities sale commitments). 

(***)There is no effect on the net off-balance sheet position. 
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V. Explanations on currency risk (continued) 

The following table demonstrates prospective increase and decrease in equities and profit/loss as of 31 

December 2011 and 2010 (excluding tax effect) on condition that 10 % decrease of TL against the 

currencies below. This analysis has been prepared under the assumption that all other variables, especially 

interest rates, are constant. 

  

Current Period Prior Period 

Profit/Loss Equity Profit/Loss Equity 

          

USD (227) (216) (221) -- 

EURO (44) -- 42 -- 

Other FC (349) -- (4) -- 

Total (Net) (620) (216) (183) -- 
 

VI.  Explanations on interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk shows the probability of loss related to the changes in interest rates depending on the 

Bank’s position, and it is managed by the Asset-Liability Committee.  

Standard method and asset-liability risk measurement methods are used to measure the bank's interest rate 

risk. 

Measurements in the context of standard method are carries out monthly by using maturity ladder. The 

Bank applies interest rate shock analysis to its interest sensitive assets and liabilities taking into 

considerations prior economic crises and the change in the net present value of the Bank after applying the 

shock analysis is monitored within the limits approved by the board of directors. 
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VI.  Explanations on interest rate risk (continued) 

Interest rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items (Based on repricing dates):  

Current Period Up to 1 

Month 

1-3 

Months 

3-12 

Months 

1-5 

Years 

Over  

5 Years 

Non-

interest 

Bearing 

 

Total 

Cash (Cash in TL, Cash in 

Foreign Currency, Cash in 

Transit, Cheques Purchased) and 

Balances with the Central Bank of 

Turkey -- -- -- -- -- 243,385 243,385 

Banks -- -- -- -- -- 18,903 18,903 

Financial Assets at Fair Value 

Through Profit or Loss 19,041 2,168 6,999 24,739 1,185 -- 54,132 

Interbank Money Market 

Placements -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Financial Assets Available-for-

Sale -- -- -- 15,830 -- 14 15,844 

Loans 388,058 650,948 461,807 328,069 266,154 11,641 2,106,677 

Investment Securities Held-to-

Maturity -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Other Assets (*) -- -- -- -- -- 47,808 47,808 

Total Assets 407,099 653,116 468,806 368,638 267,339 321,751 2,486,749 

Liabilities        

Bank Deposits 34,181 3,784 -- -- -- 751 38,716 

Other Deposits 902,415 724,854 277,566 -- -- 106,954 2,011,789 

Interbank money market funds 6,831 -- -- -- -- -- 6,831 

Sundry Creditors -- -- -- -- -- 105,796 105,796 

Marketable Securities Issued -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Funds Borrowed from Other 

Financial Institutions 7,453 20,027 2,276 -- -- -- 29,756 

Other Liabilities (**) 1,414 4,664 7,000 3,237 -- 277,546 293,861 

Total Liabilities 952,294 753,329 286,842 3,237 -- 491,047 2,486,749 

Balance Sheet Long Position -- -- 181,964 365,401 267,339 -- 814,704 

Balance Sheet Short Position (545,195) (100,213) -- -- -- (169,296) (814,704) 

Off-Balance Sheet Long Position -- 373,413 190,983 -- -- 1,647,482 2,211,878 

Off-Balance Sheet Short Position -- (377,781) (192,479) -- -- (1,658,347) (2,228,607) 

Total Position (545,195) (104,581) 180,468 365,401 267,339 (180,161) (16,729) 

 (*)  Other assets/non-interest bearings column includes 11,663 TL tangible assets, 6,074 TL intangible assets,  20,472 TL tax 

assets, 6,270 TL non-current assets held for sale and 3,329 TL other assets. 

(**) Other liabilities/non-interest bearings column includes 233,253 TL shareholders’ equity, 12,343 TL other liabilities, 25,938 

TL provisions and 6,012 TL tax liabilities.  
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VI.  Explanations on interest rate risk (continued) 

Interest rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items (Based on repricing dates):  

Prior Period End 

 
Up to 1 

Month 

1-3 

Months 

3-12 

Months 

1-5 

Years 

Over  

5 Years 

Non-

interest 

Bearing 

 

Total 

        

Cash (Cash in TL, Cash in Foreign 

Currency, Cash in Transit, 

Cheques Purchased) and Balances 

with the Central Bank of Turkey -- -- -- -- -- 55,261 55,261 

Banks 58,276 -- -- -- -- 15,070 73,346 

Financial Assets at Fair Value 

Through Profit or Loss 6,483 8,272 9,175 72,207 732 -- 96,869 

Interbank Money Market 

Placements -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Financial Assets Available -for-

Sale -- -- -- -- -- 14 14 

Loans 18,690 102,964 65,598 157,639 281,238 13,871 640,000 

Investment Securities Held-to-

Maturity -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Other Assets (*) -- -- -- -- -- 36,749 36,749 

Total Assets 83,449 111,236 74,773 229,846 281,970 120,965 902,239 

Liabilities        

Bank Deposits -- 113,864 -- -- -- 844 114,708 

Other Deposits 474,093 109,553 1,323 -- -- 50,591 635,560 

Interbank Money Market Funds -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Sundry Creditors -- -- -- -- -- 935 935 

Marketable Securities Issued -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Funds Borrowed from Other 

Financial Institutions -- 2,016 558 -- -- -- 2,574 

Other Liabilities (**) 10,664 2,807 10,072 -- -- 124,919 148,462 

Total Liabilities 484,757 228,240 11,953 -- -- 177,289 902,239 

Balance Sheet Long Position -- -- 62,820 229,846 281,970 -- 574,636 

Balance Sheet Short Position (401,308) (117,004) -- -- -- (56,324) (574,636) 

Off-Balance Sheet Long Position 136,921 67,890 97,920 -- -- 492,734 795,465 

Off-Balance Sheet Short Position -- -- (32,295) (130,031) (136,416) (505,976) (804,718) 

Total Position (264,387) (49,114) 128,445 99,815 145,554 (69,566) (9,253) 

  (*)  Other assets/non-interest bearings column includes 6,743 TL tangible assets, 2,044 TL intangible assets, 22,798 TL tax 

assets, 1,883 TL non-current assets held for sale and 3,281 TL other assets. 

(**) Other liabilities/non-interest bearings column includes 107,328 TL shareholders’ equity, 5,546 TL other liabilities, 10,021 

TL provisions and 2,024 TL tax liabilities.  
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VI.         Explanations on interest rate risk (continued) 

Average interest rates applied to monetary financial instruments 

Current Period End 
EURO USD JPY TL 

% % % % 

Assets     

Cash (Cash in TL, Cash in Foreign Currency, 

Cash in Transit, Cheques Purchased) and 

Balances with the Central Bank of Turkey  --   --   --  -- 

Banks   --  --  --  -- 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit/ 

Loss 4.95 6.19  --  10.74 

Interbank Money Market Placements  --   --   --  -- 

Financial Assets Available-for-Sale  --  9.58  --   -- 

Loans 7.67 7.20  --  15.96 

Investment Securities Held-to-Maturity  --   --   --   --  

Liabilities         

Bank Deposits 0.74 3.93  --  10.50 

Other Deposits 4.17 4.23  --  11.53 

Interbank Money Market Funds  --   --   --   5.75  

Sundry Creditors  --   --   --   --  

Marketable Securities Issued  --   --   --   --  

Funds Borrowed from Other Financial 

Institutions 3.69 3.22  --  7.55 

 

Prior Period End 
EURO USD JPY TL 

% % % % 

Assets     

Cash (Cash in TL, Cash in Foreign Currency, 

Cash in Transit, Cheques Purchased) and 

Balances with the Central Bank of Turkey -- -- -- -- 

Banks  0.21 0.10 -- 4.50 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through 

Profit/Loss 5.64 7.32 -- 8.40 

Interbank Money Market Placements -- -- -- -- 

Financial Assets Available-for-Sale -- -- -- -- 

Loans 6.99 7.29 -- 13.68 

Investment Securities Held-to-Maturity -- -- -- -- 

Liabilities     

Bank Deposits 3.81 -- -- -- 

Other Deposits 2.60 2.81 -- 8.56 

Interbank Money Market Funds -- -- -- -- 

Sundry Creditors -- -- -- -- 

Marketable Securities Issued -- -- -- -- 

Funds Borrowed from Other Financial 

Institutions 3.25 2.24 -- 7.57 
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VI. Explanations on interest rate risk (continued) 

Possible effects of the sensitivity to interest rates of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities on net 

income and equity in the future  

 

The interest rate sensitivity of the income statement indicates the impact of probable changes in the 

interest rates of net interest income arising from financial assets (not subject to trading) and liabilities with 

floating interest rates as of 31 December 2011. 

 

The net interest income of the Bank decreases 4,045 TL when the interest rate increases 1% holding other 

variables constant and increases 3,774 TL when the interest rate decreases 1% holding other variables 

constant (31 December 2010: 3,307 TL and (1,736) TL respectively) . Negative interest rates resulted 

from 1% decrease in the interest rate are considered as 0%. 

VII. Explanations on liquidity risk 

The Bank diversifies its funding resources with deposits and bank borrowings to avoid the liquidity risk. 
Maturity match between assets and liabilities are monitored and liquid assets are kept to meet probable 
liquidity needs that might result from market fluctuations. 

According to BRSA’s Official Gazette numbered 26333, dated on November 1, 2006, “Legislation on 
Measurement and Assessment of Liquidity Adequacy of the Banks”, liquidity ratio is required to be  80 % 
for foreign currency assets/liabilities and 100 % for total assets/liabilities in the calculation of the bank’s 
weekly and monthly reporting effective from 1 June 2007. Liquidity ratios for the year 2011 are 
shown below: 

 
 First Maturity Slice (Weekly) Second Maturity Slice (Monthly) 

                   FC FC + TL FC FC+TL 

Average (%)                    99.67             141.21   89.87 115.47 

Max.      (%)                   121.83             177.68 100.20 133.35 

Min.       (%)                    80.74             113.54 82.10 100.09 
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VII. Explanation related to the liquidity risk (continued) 

Assets and liabilities according to the maturity: 

Current Period Demand 
Up to  

1 Month 

1-3  

Months 

3-12  

Months 

1-5  

Year 

5 Years  

and 

Over 

Unallocated Total 

Assets         

Cash (Cash in TL, Cash in 

Foreign Currency, Cash in 

Transit, Cheques 

Purchased) and Balances 

with the Central Bank of 

Turkey 117,507 125,878 -- -- -- -- -- 243,385 

Due from Banks and 

Other Financial 

Institutions 18,903 -- -- -- -- -- -- 18,903 

Financial Assets at Fair 

Value Through Profit or 

Loss -- 7,173 1,970 6,873 24,938 13,178 -- 54,132 

Interbank Money Market 

Placements -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Financial Assets 

Available-for-Sale -- -- -- -- 15,830 -- 14 15,844 

Loans -- 637,496 320,635 527,225 355,910 253,770 11,641 2,106,677 

Investment Securities 

Held-to-Maturity -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Other Assets (*) -- -- -- -- -- -- 47,808 47,808 

Total Assets 136,410 770,547 322,605 534,098 396,678 266,948 59,463 2,486,749 

Liabilities         

Bank Deposits 751 34,181 3,784 -- -- -- -- 38,716 

Other Deposits 106,954 902,415 724,854 277,566 -- -- -- 2,011,789 

Funds Borrowed from 

Other Financial 

Institutions -- 7,453 20,027 2,276 -- -- -- 29,756 

Interbank Money Market 

Funds -- 6,831 -- -- -- -- -- 6,831 

Marketable Securities 

Issued -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Sundry Creditors -- 105,796 -- -- -- -- -- 105,796 

Other Liabilities (**) -- 13,682 5,354 8,518 6,104 921 259,282 293,861 

Total Liabilities 107,705 1,070,358 754,019 288,360 6,104 921 259,282 2,486,749 

Net Liquidity Gap 28,705 (299,811) (431,414) 245,738 390,574 266,027 (199,819) -- 

         

Prior Period         

Total Assets 28,808 184,395 56,322 143,244 329,902 108,934 50,634 902,239 

Total Liabilities 51,435 492,910 228,240 11,952 -- -- 117,702 902,239 

Net Liquidity Gap (22,627) (308,515) (171,918) 131,292 329,902 108,934 (67,068) -- 

(*) Certain assets on the balance sheet that are necessary for the banking operations but not convertible into cash in the 

short run such as tangible assets, investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries, stationary supplies and prepaid 

expenses are included in this column. 

(**) Shareholders' equity and provisions are classified in other liabilities in unallocated column. 
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VII. Explanations on liquidity risk (continued) 

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities: 

 

 

31 December 2011 

 

Book 

Value 

Undiscounted 

Outflow Demand 

Up to  

1 Month 

1-3  

Months 

3-12  

Months 

1-5  

Year 

5 Years  

and Over 

         

Bank Deposits 38,716 38,780 751 34,227 3,802 -- -- -- 

Money Market Funds 6,831 6,835 -- 6,835 -- -- -- -- 

Other Deposits 2,011,789 2,046,157 106,954 906,601 736,407 296,195 -- -- 

Borrowings 29,756 30,179 -- 7,459 20,401 2,319 -- -- 

Total 2,087,092 2,121,951 107,705 955,122 760,610 298,514 -- -- 

 

 

31 December 2010 

 

Book 

Value 

Undiscounted 

Outflow Demand 

Up to  

1 Month 

1-3  

Months 

3-12  

Months 

1-5  

Year 

  5 Years  

and Over 

         

Bank Deposits 114,708 115,634 844 -- 114,790 -- -- -- 

Money Market Funds -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Other Deposits 635,560 637,745 50,591 475,398 110,394 1,362 -- -- 

Borrowings 2,574 2,592 -- -- 2,029 563 -- -- 

Total 752,842 755,971 51,435 475,398 227,213 1,925 -- -- 

The Bank's derivative assets and liabilities are shown below according to the maturity distribution: 
 

  Up to  

1 Month 

1-3  

Months 

3-12  

Months 

1-5  

Year 

5 Years  

and 

Over 

Total 

Current Period 

 

A. Derivatives Held For 

Trading: 

Foreign Currency 

Related Derivative 

Transactions (I) 2,089,850 1,007,740 686,083 163,450 -- 3,947,123 

Forward Foreign 

Exchange Purchase 50,956 51,715 68,383 39,672 -- 210,726 

Forward Foreign 

Exchange Sale 51,121 52,824 73,863 43,175 -- 220,983 

Currency Swap Purchase 812,226 407,606 265,483 42,081 -- 1,527,396 

Currency Swap Sale 806,985 411,075 260,789 38,522 -- 1,517,371 

Foreign Currency 

Options – Buy 177,272 41,511 8,404 -- -- 227,187 

Foreign Currency 

Options – Sell 191,290 43,009 9,161 -- -- 243,460 

Interest Rate Related 

Derivative 

Transactions (II) -- --  -- -- -- -- 

Interest Rate Swap 

Purchase -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Interest Rate Swap Sell  -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Other (III) -- --  -- -- -- -- 

Total Held for Trading 

Transactions (I+II+III) 2,089,850 1,007,740 686,083 163,450 -- 3,947,123 
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VII. Explanations on liquidity risk (continued) 

The Bank's derivative assets and liabilities are shown below according to the maturity distribution: 
 

  Up to  

1 Month 

1-3  

Months 

3-12  

Months 

1-5  

Year 

5 Years  

and Over 
Total 

Prior Period 

 

A. Derivatives Held For Trading: 

Foreign Currency Related 

Derivative Transactions (I) 875,260 112,593 19,117 29,393 -- 1,036,363 

Forward Foreign Exchange Purchase 11,206 -- -- -- -- 11,206 

Forward Foreign Exchange Sale 11,179 -- -- -- -- 11,179 

Currency Swap Purchase 385,361 52,571 10,287 15,962 -- 464,181 

Currency Swap Sale 393,958 54,204 8,830 13,431 -- 470,423 

Foreign Currency Options – Buy 36,295 2,872 -- -- -- 39,167 

Foreign Currency Options - Sell 37,261 2,946 -- -- -- 40,207 

Interest Rate Related Derivative 

Transactions (II) -- --  46,932    

      

233,198     

      

272,832     

           

552,962     

Interest Rate Swap Purchase -- --  23,466  116,599  136,416  276,481  

Interest Rate Swap Sell  -- --  23,466  116,599  136,416  276,481  

Other (III) -- --  -- --  -- --  

A. Total Held for Trading 

Transactions (I+II+III) 875,260 112,593 66,049 262,591 272,832 1,589,325 

VIII. Explanations on presentation of financial assets and liabilities at their fair value 

  Carrying Value Fair Value 

Current Period Prior Period  Current Period Prior Period 

     

Financial Assets 2,368,705 754,883 2,362,577 751,862 

Central Bank of  the Republic of Turkey                             227,281 41,523 227,281 41,523 

Banks 18,903 73,346  18,903 73,346  

Financial Assets Available-for-Sale (*) 15,844 14  15,844 14  

Investment Securities Held-to-Maturity -- -- -- -- 

Loans 2,106,677 640,000 2,100,549 636,979 

Financial Liabilities 2,192,888 753,777 2,192,888 753,777 

Bank Deposits 38,716 114,708  38,716 114,708  

Other Deposits 2,011,789 635,560  2,011,789 635,560  

Borrowings 29,756 2,574 29,756 2,574 

Interbank Money Market Funds  6,831 -- 6,831 -- 

Funds Borrowed From Other Financial Institutions   -- -- -- -- 

Marketable Securities Issued -- -- -- -- 

Sundry Creditors 105,796 935 105,796 935 

 

(*) 14 TL marketable securities representing capital share in available for sale financial assets are not 

in an active market, therefore they are presented with their cost value in financial statements (31 

December 2010: 14 TL). 
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VIII. Explanations on presentation of financial assets and liabilities at their fair value (continued) 

Valuation methods of the financial instruments valued with their fair value are shown below. 

 

  
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  

  Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Curren

tPeriod 

Prior 

Perio

d 

Curren

t Period 

Prior 

Period 

Financial Assets       

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit 

and Loss 36,319 94,556 17,813 1,239 -- -- 

Financial Assets Available-for-Sale 15,830 -- -- -- -- -- 

Hedging Purpose Derivative Financial Assets 52,149 94,556 17,813 1,239 -- -- 

Total       
       

Financial Liabilities       

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit 

and Loss -- -- 16,315 22,469 -- -- 

Hedging Purpose Derivative Financial 

Liabilities 

      

Total -- -- 16,315 22,469 -- -- 
 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 : Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or 

indirectly (derived from prices); 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs. 
 

The maximum credit risk sensitivity of financial statement items are shown on the table below:  
 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Central Bank of Turkey 227,281             41,523      

Banks 18,903             73,346      

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 54,132             95,795      

Financial Assets Available-for-Sale 15,844                    14      

Loans 2,106,677           640,000      

Hedging Purpose Derivative Financial Assets 2,422,837         850,678      

Total   

   

Contingent liabilities 228,376             77,081      

Commitments 555,380           107,950      

Total 783,756         185,031      

   

Total Credit Risk Sensitivity 3,206,593      1,035,709      
 

IX. Explanations on transactions carried out on behalf of other parties and fiduciary assets 

The Bank performs trading transactions on behalf of customers, and gives custody, administration 

and consultancy services.  
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SECTION FIVE 

DISCLOSURES AND FOOTNOTES ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

I. Explanations and disclosures related to the assets 

1. Information on Cash and Balances with the Central Bank of Turkey 

          Current Period          Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Cash in TL /Foreign Currency 3,245  12,859  1,344 12,394 

Balances with the Central Bank of 

Turkey  74,458  152,823  5,411 36,112 

Other   --   --  -- -- 

Total 77,703  165,682  6,755 48,506 

1.1 Information related to the account of the Central Bank of Turkey 

  Current Period        Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Unrestricted Demand Deposits 74,458  26,944  5,411 -- 

Unrestricted Time Deposits -- -- -- -- 

Reserve Deposit -- -- -- -- 

Restricted Time Deposits -- 125,879 -- 36,112 

Total 74,458 152,823 5,411 36,112 

According to the communiqué No: 2005/1 on “Reserve Deposits”, the banks operating in Turkey are 

required to keep reserve deposit at the rates varying from 5% - 11% and denominated in TL for TL 

liabilities depending on maturities of liabilities  and at the rate 6% - 11% and denominated mainly in 

EUR and USD for FC liabilities. Reserve deposits do not earn interest. 

2. Information on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 

2.1 Information on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss given as collateral or blocked 

  Current Period Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Share Certificates -- -- -- -- 

Bonds, Treasury Bills and  Similar 

Marketable Securities 5,967  756  3,011  622  

Other -- -- -- -- 

Total 5,967 756 3,011  622  

Trading securities given as collateral represent those collaterals given to the Central Bank of Turkey, 
and ISE Clearing and Custody Bank (Takasbank) for liquidity, interbank money market, foreign 
exchange market and other transactions, as of balance sheets dates. 

2.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss subject to repurchase agreements 

 

  Current Period Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Share certificates --     -- --     -- 

Bonds, Treasury Bills and  Similar Marketable 

Securities 6,930 -- -- -- 

Total 6,930 -- --    -- 
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2.3 Positive differences relating to derivative financial assets held-for-trading 

Derivative financial assets held-for-trading 
Current Period Prior Period 

TL FC TL FC 

Forward Transactions 1,691 -- -- -- 

Swap Transactions 15,038 -- 1,426  685 

Futures Transactions -- -- -- -- 

Options 13 1,071 3 199     

Other -- -- -- -- 

Total 16,742 1,071 1,429  884  

3. Information on Banks 

3.1 Information on banks 

  Current Period Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Banks 122 18,781 20,012 53,334 

     Domestic 8 -- 7 -- 

     Foreign 114 18,781 20,005 53,334 

     Foreign head-offices and branches -- -- -- -- 

Total 122 18,781 20,012 53,334 

3.2 Information on foreign banks 

  Unrestricted Amount Restricted Amount 

 
Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

European Union Countries 6,920  58,749 3,781  8,961 

USA, Canada 3,445  186  774  5,312 

OECD Countries* 3,975  131  -- -- 

Off-shore banking regions  --   -- -- -- 

Other  -- -- -- -- 

Total 14,340  59,066  4,555 14,273 

* OECD countries other than European Union countries, USA and Canada 

4. Information on financial assets available-for-sale 

 Current Period Prior Period 

Debt instruments 15,830 -- 

Quoted on Stock Exchange 15,830 -- 

Unquoted on Stock Exchange -- -- 

   Share certificates  14 14 

Quoted on Stock Exchange -- -- 

Unquoted on Stock Exchange 14 14 

Impairment provision (-) -- -- 

Total 15,844 14 
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 5. Information on loans 

5.1 Information on all types of loans and advances given to shareholders and employees of the Bank 

  Current Period Prior Period 

  Cash Non-Cash Cash Non-Cash 

Direct loans granted to shareholders -- -- -- -- 

Corporate Shareholders -- -- -- -- 

Individual Shareholders -- -- -- -- 

Indirect Loans Granted to 

Shareholders -- -- -- -- 

Loans Granted to Employees  366 -- 216 -- 

Total 366 -- 216 -- 

5.2 Information on the first and second group loans and other receivables including restructured or 

rescheduled loans: 

 Standard Loans and Other  Loans and Other Receivables 

Receivables Under Close Monitoring 

Cash Loans  

Loans 

and other 

Receivables 

Restructured 

or 

Rescheduled 

Loans and 

other 

Receivables 

Restructured 

or 

Rescheduled 

Non-specialized Loans 2,057,446 569 19,642 17,379 

Discount Notes 42,869 -- -- -- 

Export Loans 169,919 -- 1,925 -- 

Import Loans -- -- -- -- 

Loans given to Financial Sector 191,815 -- -- -- 

Foreign Loans -- -- -- -- 

Consumer Loans 250,576 569 13,809 4,993 

Credit Card  489 -- -- -- 

Precious Metal Loans -- -- -- -- 

Other 1,401,778 -- 3,908 12,386 

Specialized Loans -- -- -- -- 

Other Receivables -- -- -- -- 

Total 2,057,446 569 19,642 17,379 

 

Until 30 November 2010, the Bank has adopted fair value hedge accounting in order to avoid the 

effects of fair value changes of a certain of long term loans in the market by matching a portion of its 

swap portfolio with its loan portfolio and profit and loss from these transactions have been accounted 

in income statement in accordance with the Uniform Chart of Accounts by the Bank. As of 30 

November 2010, the Bank has ceased the fair value hedge accounting and started to amortize the fair 

value difference of the loans over their remaining lives.  
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5.2 Information on the first and second group loans and other receivables including restructured or 

rescheduled loans (continued) 

The overdue analysis of close monitoring loans; 

Current Period Commercial Loans Consumer Loans Total 

31-60 days 936 8,566 9,502 

61-90 days 364 3,181 3,545 

Other 16,919 7,055 23,974 

Total 18,219 18,802 37,021 

 

Prior Period Commercial Loans Consumer Loans Total 

31-60 days 1,929 6,765 8,694 

61-90 days 95 2,472 2,567 

Other 8,188 5,803 13,991 

Total 10,212 15,040 25,252 

 

5.3 Loans according to their maturity structure 

  Standard Loans and Other  Loans and Other Receivables 

Receivables Under Close Monitoring 

Cash Loans 

Loans 

and other 

Receivables 

Restructured 

or 

Rescheduled 

Loans and 

other 

Receivables 

Restructured 

or 

Rescheduled 

Short-term loans and other 

receivables 1,083,340 -- 5,818 371 

Non-specialized Loans 1,083,340 --  5,818 371 

Specialized Loans --  --  --  --  

Other Receivables --  --  --  --  

Medium and long-term loans and 

other receivables 974,106 

                       

569  13,824 17,008 

Non-specialized Loans 974,106 569  13,824 17,008 

Specialized Loans --  --  --  --  

Other Receivables --  --  --  --  

Total 2,057,446 569  19,642 17,379 
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5.4  Information on consumer loans, individual credit cards, personnel loans and credit cards given to

 personnel 

 

 

  

Short-Term 

Medium and 

Long Term Total 

Consumer Loans-TL 4,591 38,983 43,574 

Real estate Loans -- 21,798 21,798 

Vehicle Loans 12 980 992 

General Purpose Loans 4,579 16,205 20,784 

Other -- -- -- 

Consumer Loans-Indexed to FC -- 225,746 225,746 

Real estate Loans -- 217,313 217,313 

Vehicle Loans -- 9 9 

General Purpose Loans -- 8,424 8,424 

Other -- -- -- 

Consumer Loans-FC -- -- -- 

Real estate Loans -- -- -- 

Vehicle Loans -- -- -- 

General Purpose Loans -- -- -- 

Other -- -- -- 

Individual Credit Cards-TL 413 -- 413 

Installment -- -- -- 

Non installment 413 -- 413 

Individual Credit Cards-FC 26 -- 26 

Installment -- -- -- 

Non installment 26 -- 26 

Loans Given to Employees-TL 71 247 318 

Real estate Loans -- -- -- 

Vehicle Loans -- -- -- 

General Purpose Loans 71 247 318 

Other -- -- -- 

Loans Given to Employees - Indexed to FC -- -- -- 

Real estate Loans -- -- -- 

Vehicle Loans -- -- -- 

General Purpose Loans -- -- -- 

Other -- -- -- 

Loans Given to Employees - FC -- -- -- 

Real estate Loans -- -- -- 

Vehicle Loans -- -- -- 

General Purpose Loans -- -- -- 

Other -- -- -- 

Personnel Credit Cards - TL 48 -- 48 

Installment -- -- -- 

Non installment 48 -- 48 

Personnel Credit Cards - FC -- -- -- 

Installment -- -- -- 

Non installment -- -- -- 

Overdraft Loans-TL (Real Persons) 309 -- 309 

Overdraft Loans-FC (Real Persons) -- -- -- 

Total 5,458 264,976 270,434 
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5.5 Information on commercial loans with installments and corporate credit cards 

  

Short Term 

Medium or 

Long Term Total 

Installment Commercial Loans - TL 38,940 73,331 112,271 

Real estate Loans -- 66 66 

Vehicle Loans 161 3,089 3,250 

General Purpose Loans 38,779 70,176 108,955 

Other -- -- -- 

Installment Commercial Loans – Indexed to FC 3,991 160,428 164,419 

Real estate Loans -- 10,677 10,677 

Vehicle Loans 40 1,338 1,378 

General Purpose Loans 3,951 148,413 152,364 

Other -- -- -- 

Installment Commercial Loans - FC -- -- -- 

Real estate Loans -- -- -- 

Vehicle Loans -- -- -- 

General Purpose Loans -- -- -- 

Other -- -- -- 

Corporate Credit Cards - TL 2 -- 2 

Installment -- -- -- 

Non installment 2 -- 2 

Corporate Credit Cards - FC -- -- -- 

Installment -- -- -- 

Non installment -- -- -- 

Overdraft Loans-TL (Legal Entities) 4,106 -- 4,106 

Overdraft Loans-FC (Legal Entities) -- -- -- 

Total 47,039 233,759 280,798 

5.6 Loans according to borrowers 

   Current Period Prior Period 

Public -- -- 

Private 2,095,036 626,134 

Total 2,095,036 626,134 

5.7 Domestic and Foreign Loans 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Domestic Loans 2,095,036 626,134 

Foreign Loans  -- -- 

Total 2,095,036 626,134 

5.8 Loans granted to subsidiaries and associates 

 None. 
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5.9 Specific provisions provided against loans 

Specific Provisions (*) Current Period Prior Period 

Loans and receivables with limited collectibility 261 299 

Loans and receivables with doubtful collectibility 842 246 

Uncollectible loans and receivables 3,624 6,809 

Total 4,727 7,354 

 

(*)3,100 TL of the Bank’s fully-provision allocated non-performing loans were sold for 150 TL and after the completion of the procedures 

on 27 June 2011, the sale amount has been collected and those loans have been derecognized from non-performing loan account. 
Moreover,  the loans having the net book value of 355 TL, the gross value of 474 TL have been sold for 369 TL and the difference between 

the sale amount and net book value of the loans has been recognized as revenue. 

 

5.10  Information on non-performing loans 

5.10.1 Information on loans and other receivables included in non-performing loans which are 

restructured or rescheduled 

  Group III Group IV Group V 

  

Loans and 

receivables 

with limited 

collectibility 

Loans and 

receivables 

with doubtful 

collectability 

Uncollectible 

loans and 

receivables 

Current Period 166 -- 98 

(Gross Amounts before Specific Provisions)    

Restructured Loans and Other Receivables 166 -- 98 

Rescheduled Loans and Other Receivables  -- --     -- 

Prior Period 29 --  2,160  

(Gross Amounts before Specific Provisions)    

Restructured Loans and Other Receivables 29  --  2,160  

Rescheduled Loans and Other Receivables  -- --     -- 

5.10.2  Movement on non-performing loans 

  Group III Group IV Group V 

  Loans and 

receivables 

with limited 

collectability 

Loans and 

receivables 

with doubtful 

collectability 

Uncollectible 

loans and 

receivables 

Balances at Beginning of Period 3,282 670 17,268 

Additions (+) 10,249 78 341 

Transfers from Other Categories of  Non-Performing Loans (+)  -- 7,278 2,874 

Transfers to Other Categories of  Non-Performing Loans (-) 7,278 2,874 -- 

Collections (-) (*) 1,535 2,948 7,359 

Write-offs (-) (**) -- 1 3,677 

   Corporate and Commercial Loans -- 1 2,522 

   Retail Loans -- -- 1,154 

   Credit Cards -- -- 1 

   Other -- -- -- 

Balances at End of the Period 4,718 2,203 9,447 

  Specific Provisions (-) 261 842 3,624 

Net Balance on Balance Sheet 4,457 1,361 5,823 

 

(*)   Collections during the period include transfers from non-performing loans to close monitoring loans.  

(**) 3,100 TL of the Bank’s fully-provision allocated non-performing loans were sold for 150 TL and after the completion of the 
procedures on 27 June 2011, the sale amount has been collected and those loans have been derecognized from non-performing loan 

account. Moreover,  the loans having the net book value of 355 TL, the gross value of 474 TL have been sold for 369 TL and the difference 

between the sale amount and net book value of the loans has been recognized as revenue. 
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5.10.3 Information on non-performing loans and other receivables in foreign currencies (*) 
 

  Group III Group IV Group V 

  

Loans and 

receivables with 

limited 

collectability 

Loans and 

receivables 

with doubtful 

collectability 

Uncollectible 

loans and 

receivables 

Current Period    

Balance as of the Period End  1,066 485 6,884 

Specific Provisions (-) 53 80 2,539 

Net Balance on Balance Sheet 1,013 405 4,345 
 

Prior Period    

Balance as of the Period End 2,434  280  13,087  

Specific Provisions (-) 146  35  4,724  

Net Balance on Balance Sheet 2,288  245  8,363  

 (*) Information refers to non-performing foreign currency indexed loans. 

5.10.4 Information regarding gross and net amounts of non-performing loans with respect to user groups 

  

Group III Group IV Group V 

Loans and 

receivables with 

limited 

collectability 

Loans and 

receivables 

with doubtful 

collectability 

Uncollectible 

loans and 

receivables 

Current Period (Net) 4,457 1,361 5,823 

Loans to Real Persons and Legal Entities (Gross) 4,718 2,203 9,447 

Specific provisions (-) 261 842 3,624 

Loans Granted to Real Persons and Legal Entities (Net) 4,457 1,361 5,823 

Banks (Gross) -- -- -- 

Specific provisions (-) -- -- -- 

Banks (Net) -- -- -- 

Other Loan and Receivables (Gross) -- -- -- 

Specific provisions (-) -- -- -- 

Other Loan and Receivables (Net) -- -- -- 

    

Prior Period (Net) 2,983 424 10,459 

Loans to Real Persons and Legal Entities (Gross) 3,282 670 17,268 

Specific provisions (-) 299 246 6,809 

Loans to Real Persons and Legal Entities (Net) 2,983 424 10,459 

Banks (Gross) -- -- -- 

Specific provisions (-) -- -- -- 

Banks (Net) -- -- -- 

Other Loan and Receivables (Gross) -- -- -- 

Specific provisions (-) -- -- -- 

Other Loan and Receivables (Net) -- -- -- 
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5.11          Other explanations and disclosures 

              The explanation of the extension of payment  schedules of credits and other receivables 

(i) : Credits with one time change in payment schedule 

 

  Loans with Extended Maturities 

  
Until one 

month 1 - 3 Months 3-12 months 1- 5 years 

More Than 5 

Years   Total 

Credits             

Amount 4,063 15,299 3,154 9,050                -- 31,566 

Quantity 2 1 3 10                 -- 16 

There are not any loans for which the payment schedules are revised for more than once. 

5.12 Liquidation policy for uncollectible loans and receivables  

The Bank allocates 100% provision for uncollectible loans. If the Bank has collateral, non-

performing loans and other receivables are collected through liquidation of these collaterals. In the 

absence of collateral, the Bank performs periodical market intelligence and tries to determine the 

assets acquired subsequently by the debtor and applies to the legal follow-up process. 
  

5.13 Explanations related to write-off policy 
 

In case of all necessary conditions based on the relevant regulation occur, all impaired loans are 

written-off by means of the Board of Directors’ decision. 
 

6. Information on held-to-maturity investments 
 

None. 

 

7. Information on associates 
 

None. 
 

8. Information on subsidiaries 
 

None. 
 

9. Information on entities under common control (Joint Ventures) 
 

None. 
 

10. Information on finance lease receivables 
 

None. 
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11. Information on derivative financial assets held for hedging purposes 

11.1 Positive differences table of derivative financial assets held for hedging purposes 

  Current Period Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Fair Value Hedge -- -- -- -- 

Cash Flow Hedge -- -- -- -- 

Hedging of a Net Investment in 

Foreign Subsidiaries -- -- -- -- 

Total -- -- -- -- 

12. Information on tangible assets 

 Current Period Vehicles 

Other tangible 

assets (*)  Total 

 Cost    

Beginning Balance, 1 January 2011 339 21,606 21,945 

Additions 31 8,584 8,615 

Disposals (253) (2,207) (2,460) 

Ending Balance, 31December 2011 117 27,983 28,100 

    

Accumulated Depreciation     

Beginning Balance, 1 January 2011 (288) (14,914) (15,202) 

Depreciation (37) (3,401) (3,438) 

Disposals 241 1,962 2,203 

Ending Balance, 31 December 2011 (84) (16,353) (16,437) 

 
   

Net Book Value, 31 December 2010 51 6,692 6,743 

    

Net Book Value, 31 December 2011 33 11,630 11,663 

 

(*) Other tangible fixed assets consist of leasehold improvements, office machinery, furniture and other movables. 

 
 

 

Prior Period Vehicles 

Other tangible 

assets (*)  Total 

 Cost    

Beginning Balance, 1 January 2010 538 21,235 21,773 

Additions -- 478 478 

Disposals (199) (107) (306) 

Ending Balance, 31 December 2010 339 21,606 21,945 

    

Accumulated Depreciation     

Beginning Balance, 1 January 2010 (440) (12,916) (13,356) 

Depreciation (47) (2,061) (2,108) 

Disposals 199 63 262 

Ending Balance, 31 December 2010 (288) (14,914) (15,202) 

    

Net Book Value, 31 December 2009 98 8,319 8,417 

    

Net Book Value, 31December 2010 51 6,692 6,743 

(*) Other tangible fixed assets consist of leasehold improvements, office machinery, furniture and other movables. 
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12.1 If the amount of an allowance for the decrease in the value of a specific asset or the reversal from 

an allowance for the decrease in the value of a specific asset is significant in the financial 

statements 

12.1.1   Events and conditions that resulted in an allowance or the reversal of an allowance for the decrease 

in the value of the asset  

None. 

12.1.2 Amount recorded or reversed in the financial statements  

None. 

12.2 Current year charge recorded in the financial statements as an allowance for the decrease in the 

value of a group of assets or income from the reversal of an allowance for the decrease in the 

value of a group of assets and events and conditions that caused them 

 None. 

13. Information on intangible assets 

13.1 Useful lives and amortization rates 

The useful life of an asset is determined by taking the asset’s expected economic life, technical, 
technological or other kinds of obsolescence, and maintenance costs into account. The amortization 
rates used are in accordance with the useful lives of the underlying assets. The useful lives are 
determined as defined by TAS 38 “Intangible Assets”. 
 

The Bank's intangible assets, software programs, establishment and restructuring expenses, intangible 

rights, and their useful life is considered from 3 to 10 years. 

13.2 Amortization method used 

The depreciation charge for items remaining in the property and equipment for less than an 

accounting period at the balance sheet date is calculated in proportion to the period the item remains 

in property and equipment account. 

13.3 Gross book value at period beginning and ending date and accumulated amortization  

  Current Period Prior Period 

  Gross Book 

Value 

Accumulated 

Amortization 

Gross Book 

Value 

Accumulated 

Amortization 

Intangible Assets 33,478 27,404 27,761 25,717 

 (*) Includes the software and other intangible assets.  
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13.4 Movement table consisting of information between period beginning and period end 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Cost    

Opening Balance , 1 January                                                 27,761 26,701 

Purchases  5,717  1,060 

      Closing Balance, 31 December                                                               33,478 27,761 

 

Accumulated Depreciation 

     Beginning Balance, 1 January  (25,717) (24,633) 

     Amortization Cost (1,687) (1,084) 

     Disposals (27,404) (25,717) 

     Closing Balance, 31 December    

   

Net Book Value, 31 December  6,074 2,044 
 

13.5 The carrying value, description and remaining useful life of significant intangible assets, if any, 

None. 

13.6 Information on intangible assets that have been purchased by government grants and originally 

have been accounted for by using the fair value principle  

None. 

13.7 Subsequent periods’ valuation methodology for intangible assets that have been purchased by 

government grants in the past and originally have been accounted for by using the fair value 

principle  

None. 

13.8 Carrying value of intangible assets that are pledged or restricted in usage 

None. 

13.9 Amount of any commitments granted for the purchase of intangible assets 

None. 

13.10 In case of a revaluation, information on an asset by asset basis for intangible assets 

 None. 

13.11 Total amount charged to income statement as research and development expense, if any, 

None. 

13.12 Information on goodwill  

None. 

14. Information on investment properties 

 None. 
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15. Information on deferred tax asset 

15.1 Amount of deferred tax asset recognized in the balance sheet in respect of deductible temporary 

differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits 

As of 31 December 2011, the Bank has calculated the deferred tax asset as 20,472 TL by means of 

netting of carryforward tax losses, deductible temporary differences and taxable temporary 

differences (31 December 2010: 22,795 TL). 

 

As of 31 December 2011, 21,078 TL (31 December 2010: 22,717 TL) of deferred tax asset consist of 

deferred tax asset from carry forward tax losses, and remaining tax bases are the differences between 

book value of asset and liabilities on the balance sheet as of 31 December 2011 and taxable value of 

them in accordance with tax legislation which will be considered in the calculation of the subsequent 

periods profit and losses. The deferred tax asset and liability are presented as net in the 

accompanying financial statements.  

 

                             Current Period  

   Deferred Tax Base  

Deferred Tax Asset/ 

Liability 

Carry Forward Tax Losses 105,389 21,078 

Financial Assets Valuation (10,540) (2,108) 

Commission Income Collected as Cash 6,457 1,291 

Benefit Severance and Unused Vacation Provision  2,010 402 

Tangible Assets Base Differences (1,841) (368) 

Prepaid Option Premium  883 177 

Other Provisions -- -- 

Deferred Tax Assets 102,358 20,472 

   

 

                         Prior Period 

   Deferred Tax Base  

 Deferred Tax Asset/  

Liability  

Carry Forward Tax Losses 113,787 22,757 

Financial Assets Valuation 3,947 789 

Commission Income Collected as Cash 4,848 970 

Benefit Severance and Unused Vacation Provision  1,882 376 

Tangible Assets Base Differences (1,847) (369) 

Prepaid Option Premium  -- -- 

Other Provisions 567 113 

Deferred Tax Assets 123,184 24,636 

Deferred Tax Provision  (1,841) 

Deferred Tax Asset (net)  22,795 
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            The movement of the current year and prior year deferred tax assets is shown below: 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Deferred Tax Asset, 1 January  22,795 21,925 

Deferred Tax Income / (Expense) (2,754) 2,711 

Deferred Tax Recognized Directly Under Equity 431 -- 

Deferred Tax Provision -- (1,841) 

Deferred Tax Asset 20,472 22,795 

15.1 Amount of deferred tax asset recognized in the balance sheet in respect of deductible temporary 

differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits (continued)  

Expiration date of carry forward tax losses are shown below: 

  Current Period Prior Period 

To be expired in 2011 -- 6,898 

To be expired in 2013 62,944  64,444  

To be expired in 2014 19,837  19,837  

To be expired in 2015   22,608  22,608  

 Total   105,389    113,787  

The Bank utilized the carry forward tax losses of 8,694 TL for the temporary corporate tax 

calculations in the current year. 

15.2 Amount and expiry date of deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, unused tax credits 

for which no deferred tax asset is recognized in prior periods in the balance sheet  

 None. 

15.3 Deferred tax asset resulting from the cancellation of the provision for impairment losses related to 

the deferred taxes 

 

None. 

16. Information on assets held for sale and non-current assets related to discontinued operations  

As of 31 December 2011, the Bank has 6,270 TL assets held for sale (31 December 2010: 1,883 TL).  

 

                                                                                           Current Period 

Opening Balance                                                                                                             1,883 

Additions                                                                                                             6,508      

Disposals                                                                                                           (1,520) 

Transfers                                                                                                              (601) 

Closing, Net Book Value                                                                                                              6,270 

17. Information on other assets 

            Other assets do not exceed 10% of total assets excluding the off-balance sheet items. 

17.1 Information on prepaid expenses, tax and similar items 

As of 31 December 2011, total prepaid expenses are 1,301 TL (31 December 2010: 1,023 TL).  
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II. Explanations and disclosures related to liabilities 

1. Information on maturity structure of deposits 

Current Period  

  Demand 

7 Day 

Call 

Accounts 

Up to 1  

Month 

1-3  

Month

s 

3-6  

Months 

6 Months 

-1 Year 

1 Year  

and 

Over 

 

 

Total 

Saving Deposits 5,202 -- 4,911 633,741 299,567 30,310 2,186 975,917 

Foreign Currency 

Deposits 66,053 -- 38,303 319,628 37,587 2,230 35,620 499,421 

Residents in Turkey 59,155 -- 37,551 314,517 36,495 1,876 751 450,345 

Residents Abroad 6,898 -- 752 5,111 1,092 354 34,869 49,076 

Public Sector Deposits -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Commercial Deposits 35,461 -- 9,439 172,455 204,914 113,944 -- 536,213 

Other Ins. Deposits 238 -- -- -- -- -- -- 238 

Precious Metal Deposits -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Interbank Deposits 751 -- 16,753 21,212 -- -- -- 38,716 

Central Bank of Turkey -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Domestic Banks -- -- 16,753 5,690 -- --  22,443 

Foreign Banks 751 -- -- 15,522 -- -- -- 16,273 

Special Finan.Inst. -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Other -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Total 107,705 -- 69,406 1,147,036 542,068 146,484 37,806 2,050,505 

 

Prior Period 

  Demand 

7 Day 

Call 

Accounts 

Up to 1  

Month 

1-3  

Months 

3-6  

Months 

6 Months 

-1 Year 

1 Year  

and 

Over 

 

 

Total 

Saving Deposits 4,811 -- 73,216 140,901 5,073 45 89 224,135 

Foreign Currency 

Deposits 37,358 -- 83,035 244,487 2,979 488 418 368,765 

Residents in Turkey 36,270 -- 80,033 241,358 2,979 488 418 361,546 

Residents Abroad 1,088 -- 3,002 3,129 -- -- -- 7,219 

Public Sector Deposits -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Commercial Deposits 8,389 -- 11,867 19,992 5 2,309 -- 42,562 

Other Ins. Deposits 33 -- 65 -- -- -- -- 98 

Precious Metal Deposits -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Interbank Deposits 844 -- -- 113,864 -- -- -- 114,708 

Central Bank of 

Turkey -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Domestic Banks -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Foreign Banks 844 -- -- 113,864 -- -- -- 114,708 

Special Finan.Inst. -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Other -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Total 51,435 -- 168,183 519,244 8,057 2,842 507 750,268 
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1.1 Information on saving deposits under the guarantee of saving deposit insurance and exceeding the     

limit of saving deposit insurance: 

 

Under the Guarantee 

of Deposit 

Exceeding the limit 

of Deposit 

Insurance Insurance 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Saving Deposits 166,620 89,304 805,016 134,831 

Foreign Currency Saving Deposits 51,406 62,579 288,005 217,497 

Other Deposits in the Form of Saving Deposits -- -- -- -- 

Foreign Branches’ Deposits Under Insurance of Foreign 

Authorities -- -- -- -- 

Off-shore Banking Regions’ Deposits Under 

Foreign Authorities' Insurance -- -- -- -- 

Total   218,026 151,883 1,093,021 352,328 

1.2 Saving deposits in Turkey are not covered by any insurance in any other countries since the 

Bank’s headquarter is not located abroad. 

1.3 Saving deposits that are not under the guarantee of deposit insurance fund 

 Current Period Prior Period 

Deposits and accounts in branches abroad -- -- 

Deposits of ultimate shareholders and their close families 1,751 -- 

Deposits of chairman and members of the Board of Directors and 

their close families 3,223 -- 

Deposits obtained through illegal acts defined in the 282nd Article 

of the 5237 numbered Turkish Criminal Code dated 26 September  

2004. -- -- 

Saving deposits in banks established in Turkey exclusively for off 

shore banking activities -- -- 

2.  Information on derivative financial liabilities held for trading 

2.1 Information on negative differences relating to derivative financial liabilities held for trading 

                  Current Period               Prior Period 

Trading Purpose Derivative Financial 

Liabilities 
TL FC TL FC 

Forward Transactions 10,676 -- -- -- 

Swap Transactions 4,695 -- 18,990 4,553 

Futures Transactions -- -- -- -- 

Options -- 944 -- -- 

Other -- -- -- -- 

Total 15,371 944 18,990 4,553 
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3. Information on banks and other financial institutions 

                            Current Period                   Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Loans from Central Bank of Turkey -- -- -- -- 

From Domestic Banks and Institutions 1,115 1,638 436 2,138 

From Foreign Banks, Institutions and Funds -- 27,003 -- -- 

Total 1,115 28,641 436 2,138 

3.1 Maturity analysis of borrowings 

                       Current Period                                   Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Short-Term 1,115 28,641 436 2,138 

Medium and Long Term -- -- -- -- 

Total 1,115 28,641 436 2,138 

3.2 Additional explanation related to the concentrations of the Bank’s major liabilities:  

In the scope of normal banking operations, the Bank funds itself through funds provided deposits and 

bank debts. 

4. Other liabilities which exceed 10% of the balance sheet total (excluding off-balance sheet 

commitments) and the breakdown of these which constitute at least 20% of grand total: 

Other liabilities do not exceed 10% of the balance sheet total excluding the off-balance sheet items. 

5. Criteria used in the determination of lease installments in the finance lease contracts, renewal 

and purchase options, restrictions, and significant burdens imposed on the bank on such 

contracts 

As of 31 December 2011, the Bank has no finance leasing agreements.  

5.1 Changes in agreements and further commitments arising 

None. 

5.2 Obligations under financial lease   

None. 

5.3 Information on operational leases  

The Bank has operational lease agreements for some of its branches. If the rental payments is made 

in advance, the paid amount is accounted under  prepaid expenses in "Other Assets", in the following 

months, the rental expenses belonging to those months are recorded in profit/loss accounts. 

The Bank does not incur any liability as a result of any changes in operational lease agreements. The 

Bank does not have any obligation from operational lease agreements. 

5.4 Information on “Sale-and-lease back” agreements 

In the current period, there is no sale and lease back agreements.  
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6. Information on derivative financial liabilities for hedging purposes 

                        Current Period             Prior Period 

  TL FC TL FC 

Fair Value Hedge  -- -- -- -- 

Cash Flow Hedge 
-- -- -- -- 

Hedging of a Net Investment in Foreign Subsidiaries -- -- -- -- 

Total -- -- -- -- 

7. Information on provisions 

7.1 Information on general provisions  

 Current Period Prior Period 

Provisions for First Group Loans and Receivables 21,013 6,199 

Provisions for Second Group Loans and Receivables 869 407 

Provisions for Non-Cash Loans 871 579 

Other -- --  

Total 22,753 7,185 

7.2 Foreign exchange losses on the foreign currency indexed loans and finance lease receivables 

As of 31 December 2011, the foreign exchange losses on the foreign currency indexed loans 

amounting to 305 TL (31 December 2010: 1,048 TL) is net off from loans on the balance sheet. 

7.3 The specific provisions provided for unindemnified non cash loans 

As of 31 December  2011,the specific provisions provided for unindemnified non cash loans amount 

to 63 TL (31 December 2010:13 TL). 

7.4 Explanation on other provisions 

7.4.1 Provisions for possible losses 

None. 

7.4.2 The breakdown of the subsidiary accounts if other provisions exceed 10% of the grand total 

provisions 

None. 

7.4.3 Movement of employee termination benefits 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Opening Balance 326 256 

Current Service Cost 407 73 

Interest Cost 19 15 

Benefits paid (429) (18) 

Closing Balance   323 326 

As of 31 December 2011, the Bank has accounted a provision for unused vacation pay amounting to  

2,010 thousand TL (31 December 2010: 1,882 thousand TL).  
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8. Explanations on tax liabilities  

8.1 Explanations on current tax liability 

8.1.1 Explanations on tax provision 

 As of 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Bank has no corporate tax liabilities. 

8.1.2 Information on taxes payable 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Corporate Tax Payable                          --  -- 

Security Income Tax 1,856  693 

Property Tax 93  67 

BITT 1,700  303 

Foreign Exchange Transaction Tax                          --  -- 

Value Added Tax Payable  65  66 

Withholding Tax  920  477 

Other 46  45 

Total 4,680  1,651 

8.1.3 Information on premiums  

  Current Period Prior Period 

Social security premiums- employee 506  142 

Social security premiums- employer 720  201 

Bank social aid  pension fund premium- employee                          --                           --  

Bank social aid pension fund premium- employer                           --                           --  

Pension fund membership fees and provisions- employee                           --                           --  

Pension fund membership fees and provisions- employer                           --                           --  

Unemployment insurance- employee 35  10 

Unemployment insurance- employer  71  20 

Other                          --                           --  

Total 1,332  373 

8.2 Explanations on deferred tax liabilities 

 None. 

9. Information on liabilities regarding assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

None. 

10. Explanations on subordinated loans  

 None. 

11. Information on shareholders’ equity 

11.1 Paid-in capital 

 Current Period Prior Period 

Common Stock 325,000 202,535 

Preferred Stock -- -- 
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11.2 Paid-in capital amount, explanation as to whether the registered share capital system is applied at 

the bank; if so the amount of registered share capital ceiling: 

Registered share capital system is not applied. 

11.3 Information on share capital increases and their sources; other information on increased capital 

shares in current period 

With the decision of Board of Directors dated on 14 January 2011, the capital has been increased by 
122,465 TL to 325,000 TL. 

 

Therefore, the main shareholder Credit Europe Bank N.V. has transferred 40,000 TL on 20 January 
2011 and 82,465 TL on 23 February 2011 in total 122,465 TL for the capital increase. As of 15 March 
2011 the increase was registered by the completion of the required legal approvals. 

 

Capital  

Increase Date 

Total Capital 

 Increase Amount 

Increase in  

Cash 

Transfer from  

Profit Reserves 

Transfer from  

Capital Reserves 

15 Mart 2011 122,465 TL 122,465 TL -- -- 

As of 20 September 2011, the Bank has taken a decision to increase its paid in capital by 41,000,000 

Euro in terms of TL equivalent. The first tranche of the related increase, was  transferred to the Bank 

on 10 October 2011 as 52,250 TL; the second tranche was transferred on 1 December 2011 as 49,400 

TL. As of  31 December 2011, such amounts are paid in capital is accounted under the “Sundry 

Creditors”. Following the approval of BRSA, the extraordinary General Assembly was held on 26 

January 2012 and the increase in paid in capital was registered. Therefore, the Bank’s capital has 

increased to 426,650 TL. 

 

11.4 Information on share capital increases from revaluation funds 

 None. 

11.5 Information on capital commitments the purpose and the sources until the end of the fiscal year 

and the subsequent interim period: 

The capital is totally paid in and there are no capital commitments. 

11.6 Indicators of the Bank’s income, profitability and liquidity for the prior periods and possible 

effects of these future assumptions due to the uncertainty of these indicators on the Bank’s equity: 

None. 

11.7 Information on privileges given to stocks representing the capital 

None. 

11.8 Common stock issue premiums, shares and equity instruments 

  None. 

 

 

 



FİBABANKA A.Ş. 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2011 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (“TL”) unless otherwise stated.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11.9 Information on marketable securities value increase fund 
 

              Information on marketable securities value increase fund 

 Current Period Prior Period 

 TL FC TL FC 

Investments in Associates,Subsidiaries and  Joint Ventures -- -- -- -- 

Valuation Difference on Financial Assets Available-for-Sale  -- (1,727) -- -- 

Exchange Rate Difference -- -- -- -- 

Total  -- (1,727) -- -- 

 

11.10 Information on revaluation reserve 
 

12,669 TL gain on sale of head office building at year 2008 had been recognized as income in 

accordance with Turkish Accounting Standards. With decision of the General Assembly dated 16 

March 2009, 75% of the gain, which corresponds to 9,502 TL were decided to be transferred to a 

special funds account at the stage of distribution of profit for the year 2008 and it will not be 

transferred to any other account except for share capital for a 5-year period in order to benefit from 

the tax exemptions stated in Corporate Tax Law No: 5520, article 5/e. The Bank has transferred the 

amount to “Fixed Assets Revaluation Reserve” account. 
 

11.11 Bonus shares of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures 

None. 

11.12 Information on legal reserves 

None. 

11.13 Information on extraordinary reserves 

None. 

12.   Information on minority shares  

  None. 
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III. Explanations and disclosures related to off-balance sheet contingencies and 

commitments  

1. Information on off-balance sheet commitments 

1.1 Nature and amount of irrevocable loan commitments: 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Asset sale and purchase commitments 493,362 94,050 

Credit card limit commitments 4,861 5,384 

Commitments for promotion on credit cards and banking services 80 120 

Commitment for cheques 19,425 6,083 

Other irrevocable commitments 37,652 2,313 

Total 555,380 107,950 

1.2 Possible losses and commitments related to off-balance sheet items, including the ones listed below  

1.2.1 Non-cash loans including guarantees, acceptances, financial guarantee and other letters of credits 

As of 31 December 2011, the Bank has letters of guarantee amounting to 181,203 TL and guarantees 

and sureties on letters of credit amounting to 47,173 TL. 

As of 31 December 2010, the Bank has letters of guarantee amounting to 76,098 TL, guarantees and 

sureties on letters of credit amounting to 487 TL and bills of exchange and acceptances amounting to 

496 TL. 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Guarantee Letters  FC 97,565 10,987 

Guarantee Letters TL 83,638 65,111 

Letters of Credit 47,173 487 

Bills of Exchange and Acceptance -- 496 

Total 228,376 77,081 

 
1.2.2 Revocable, irrevocable guarantees and other similar commitments and contingencies 

 

 Current Period Prior Period 

Revocable Letters of Guarantee 30,496 17,712 

Irrevocable Letters of Guarantee 114,469 52,435 

Letters of Guarantee Given in Advance 15,590 196 

Guarantees Given to Customs 976 3,590 

Other Letters of Guarantee 19,672 2,165 

Total 181,203 76,098 
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2. Total amount of non-cash loans 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Non-Cash Loans Given against Cash Loans -- -- 

   With Original Maturity of 1 Year or Less Than 1 Year -- -- 

   With Original Maturity of More Than 1 Year -- -- 

Other Non-Cash Loans 228,376 77,081 

Total  228,376 77,081 

3.         Information on sectoral risk concentrations of non-cash loans:  

  Current Period Prior Period 

TL % FC % TL % FC % 

         

Agricultural 7,822  9.35 23,059  15.93 300 0.46 387 3.23 

Farming and Raising Livestock 7,822  9.35 22,788  15.74 300 0.46 387 3.23 

Forestry   --  -- 271  0.19 -- -- -- -- 

Fishing          --  --           --  -- -- -- -- -- 

Manufacturing 10,013  11.97 35,148  24.28 9,770 15.00 3,298 27.56 

Mining  2,700  3.23 8,207  5.67 313 0.48 20 0.17 

Production 6,044  7.23 24,595  16.99 9,457 14.52 3,278 27.39 

Electric, gas and water 1,269  1.51 2,346  1.62 -- -- -- -- 

Construction 46,246  55.29 61,936  42.79 29,128 44.74 6,385 53.34 

Services 18,829  22.52 24,538  16.96 25,601 39.32 1,900 15.87 

Wholesale and retail trade    --  -- 1,091  0.75 3,004 4.61 587 4.90 

Hotel, food and beverage Services 843  1.01 296  0.20 45 0.07 -- -- 

Transportation and telecommunication 1,606  1.92 12,762  8.82 1,276 1.96 -- -- 

Financial institutions 9,649  11.54 7,062  4.88 19,095 29.33 -- -- 

Real estate and renting  

Services 24  0.03   --  -- 24 0.04 -- -- 

Self-employment services 1,495  1.79 189  0.13 1,496 2.30 1,313 10.97 
Education services 900  1.08   --  -- 450 0.69 -- -- 

Health and social services 4,312  5.15 3,138  2.18 211 0.32 -- -- 

Other 728  0.87 57  0.04 312 0.48 -- -- 

Total 83,638  100.00 144,738  100.00 65,111 100.00 11,970 100.00 

 

  4. Information on the first and second group of non-cash loans 

  
  

            I. Group                          II. Group 

TL FC TL FC 

Letters of guarantee 82,191  97,291 1,447  274 

Bank acceptances --  --  -- -- 

Letters of credit  --  47,173 -- -- 

Endorsements -- --  -- -- 

Underwriting commitments -- -- -- -- 

Factoring commitments -- -- -- -- 

Other commitments and 

contingencies -- -- -- -- 

Total 82,191 144,464 1,447 274 
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5. Information related to derivative financial instruments 

   Current Period Prior Period 

Types of trading transactions   

Foreign Currency Related Derivative Transactions (I) 3,947,123 1,036,363  

Forward transactions 431,709 22,385  

Swap transactions 3,044,767 934,604  

Futures transactions       --                       --  

Option transactions 470,647 79,374  

Interest Related Derivative Transactions (II) -- 552,962 

Forward rate transactions -- -- 

Interest rate swap transactions -- 552,962 

Interest option transactions -- -- 

Futures interest transactions -- -- 

Other Trading Derivative Transactions (III) -- -- 

A. Total Derivative Transactions Held for Trading (I+II+III)) 3,947,123 1,589,325  

Types of hedging transactions   

Fair value hedges --  --  

Cash flow hedges     --                       --  

Net investment hedges --  --  

B. Total Derivative Transactions Held for Hedging Purposes --  --  

Total Derivative Transactions (A+B) 3,947,123  1,589,325  

6. Explanations on contingent liabilities and assets 

None. 

7.  Custodian and intermediary services 

The Bank provides trading and safe keeping services in the name and account of third parties, which 

are presented in the statement of contingencies and commitments. 
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IV. Explanations and disclosures related to the income statement 

1. Interest Income 

1.1 Information on interest on loans (*) 

 
Current Period Prior Period 

TP FC TP YP 

Interest on loans      

Short Term Loans 89,949  10,219  16,920  898  

Medium and Long Term Loans 44,333  16,415  45,236  215  

Interest on Non-Performing Loans 765 -- 771  -- 

Premiums received from Resource Utilization 

Support Fund -- -- --  -- 

Total 135,047  26,634  62,927  1,113  

(*) Includes fees and commissions obtained from cash loans. 

1.2 Information on interest income received from banks 

  
  

Current Period Prior Period 

TL FC TL FC 

The Central Bank of Turkey -- -- 2,356  --  

Domestic Banks 3,205 15 1,009  65  

Foreign Banks 17 9 24  1  

Branches and head office abroad -- -- -- -- 

Total 3,222 24 3,389  66  

1.3 Interest received from marketable securities portfolio 

  
   

Current Period Prior Period 

TL FC TL FC 

Trading Securities 1,416 671 1,620 206 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or 

Loss -- -- -- -- 

Financial  Assets Available-for-sale    -- 1,115 -- -- 

Investment Securities Held-to-maturity -- -- -- -- 

Total 1,416 1,786 1,620 206 

1.4 Information on interest income received from associates and subsidiaries 

 Current Period Prior Period 

Interest Received from Associates and Subsidiaries -- -- 
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  2.          Interest Expense 

2.1 Information on interest on funds borrowed 

   

  

Current Period Prior Period 

TL FC TL FC 

Banks 1,343 12,180 24 41 

     The Central Bank of Turkey -- -- -- -- 

     Domestic Banks 22 26 24 41 

     Foreign Banks 1,321 12,154 -- -- 

     Branches and Head Office Abroad -- -- -- -- 

Other Financial Institutions -- -- -- -- 

Total 1,343 12,180 24 41 

 

2.2 Information on interest expenses to associates and subsidiaries 

  None. 

2.3 Information on interest expenses to securities issued 

None. 

2.4 Distribution of interest expense on deposits based on maturity of deposits: 

Account Name 

 

 

Demand 

Deposits 

Time Deposits   

Up to 1 

Month 

Up to 3 

Month 

Up to 6 

Month 

Up to 1 

Year 

1 year and 

over 

Accumulating 

Deposits Total 

TL         

Bank Deposits -- 1,542  

                        

--  

                          

--  

                        

--  

                        

--  -- 1,542  

Saving Deposits -- 3,928  32,029  10,728  596  76  --  47,357  

Public Sector Deposits --  --   --   --   --   --  --   --  

Commercial Deposits -- 1,348  10,642  4,813  1,807  180  --  18,790  

Other Deposits -- 28   --  --   --   --  -- 28  

"7 Days Call" Accounts --  --    --   --   --   --   --   --  

Total -- 6,846  42,671  15,541  2,403  256  --  67,717  

FC         

Foreign Currency 

Deposits 3 1,280  10,592  943  128  1,184  --  14,130  

Bank Deposits -- 2,225  --   --   --   --  --  2,225  

"7 Days Call" Accounts --  --    --  --  --   --   --   --  

Precious Metal Deposits --  --  --   --   --   --   --   --  

Total  3 3,505  10,592  943  128  1,184  --  16,355  

Grand Total 3 10,351  53,263  16,484  2,531  1,440  --  84,072  

3. Information on Dividend Income  

None. 
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4. Information on net trading income 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Income 83,993  97,269  

Gain on capital market operations 2,496  4,675  

Gain on derivative financial instruments 64,871  81,806  

Foreign exchange gains 16,626  10,788  

Loss (-)  78,833  106,314 

Losses on capital market operations 1,708  1,620  

Losses on derivative financial instruments 58,763  91,031  

Foreign exchange losses 18,362  13,663 

Net Trading Income / Loss 5,160  (9,045) 

5. Information on other operating income  

 In the current period, majority of the other operating income consists of 492 TL profit on sale of real 

estate, 101 TL profit on sale of movable fixed assets, 519 TL gain on sale of non-performing loans, 

1,640 TL  specific loan loss and other provision reversal and 616 TL  other income. For the period 

ended  31 December 2010 majority of the other operating income consists of 1,440 TL bonus 

premium reversal, 20TL general loan loss provision reversal, 1,134 TL profit on sale of real estate, 

82 TL profit on sale of movable assets 1,207 TL reversal of specific provision and 373 TL of other 

income. 

6. Impairment on loans and other receivables 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Specific Provisions on Loans and Other Receivables: 2,680 2,631  

    III. Group Loans and Receivables 261 30  
   IV. Group Loans and Receivables 842 238  
   V. Group Loans and Receivables 1,577 2,363  

Non-performing Commissions and Other Receivables --  --  

General Loan Loss Provisions 15,568 -- 

Free Provision for Probable Risks -- -- 

Impairment Losses on Securities: -- -- 

   Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss -- -- 

   Financial Assets Available-for-Sale -- -- 

Impairment Losses on Associates, Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures 

and Investment Securities Held to Maturity: -- -- 

   Associates -- -- 

   Subsidiaries -- -- 

   Joint Ventures -- -- 

   Investments held to maturity -- -- 

Other -- -- 

Total  18,248 2,631 
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7. Information related to other operational expenses 

  Current Period Prior Period 

Personnel Expenses 34,696 24,495  

Reserve for Employee Termination Benefits -- 70  

Reserve for Bank’s Social Aid Fund Deficit -- -- 

Impairment Losses on Tangible Assets  -- -- 

Depreciation Charges of Tangible Assets  3,414 2,087 

Impairment Losses on Intangible Assets -- -- 

Amortization Charges of Intangible Assets 1,687 1,084 

Impairment Losses on Investment Accounted for under Equity 

Method -- -- 

Impairment of Assets to be Disposed -- -- 

Depreciation of Assets to be Disposed 24 21     

Impairment of Assets Held for Sale -- -- 

Other Operating Expenses 18,815 13,414 

   Operational Leases Expenses  7,838 5,832 

   Repair and Maintenance Expenses  351 228 

   Advertisement Expenses  1,288 38 

   Other Expenses  9,338 7,316 

Losses on Sale of Assets 195 -- 

Other 5,977 4,552  

Total 64,808 45,723 

8. Information on profit/loss before tax from continued and discontinued operations 

All profit/loss before tax of the Bank is from ongoing operations. The Bank has no discontinued 

operations. 

    
Current Period Prior Period  

Interest Income   168,442  71,577  

Interest Expense (-) 98,002  38,494  

Net Fee and Commission Income 12,029  4,548  

Trading Profit/Loss (Net) 5,160  (9,045) 

Other Operational Income 3,368  4,256  

Impairment Provision for Loans and Other Receivables (-) 18,248  2,631  

Other Operational Expense (-) 64,808  45,723  

Before Tax Profit/Loss 7,941  (15,512) 

9. Information on tax provision for continued and discontinued operations 

9.1 Current period taxation benefit or charge and deferred tax benefit or charge 

As of 31 December 2011, the Bank has recorded deferred tax loss amounting to 2,754 TL (31 
December 2010: 870 TL tax benefit). 

 

 Current Period Prior Period 

Deferred Tax Income/ (Expense) (2,754) 2,711 

Provision of deferred tax -- (1,841) 

Net Deferred Tax Income (2,754) 870 
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9.2 Deferred tax benefit / (charge) arising from origination or reversal of temporary differences  

Deferred tax benefit / (charge) arising from origination or reversal of temporary 

differences 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Arising from Origination of Deductable Temporary Differences (+) 398 186 

Arising from Reversal of Deductable Temporary Differences (-) (6,953) (3,295) 

Arising from Origination of Taxable Temporary Differences (-) (52) -- 

Arising from Reversal of Taxable Temporary Differences (+) 2,459 1,280 

Arising from Origination of Financial Losses  (+) 3,133 4,540 

Arising from Reversal of Financial Losses  (-) (1,739) -- 

Arising from Origination of Tax Deductions and Exemptions (+) -- -- 

Arising from Reversal of Tax Deductions and Exemptions (-) -- -- 

Total (2,754) 2,711 

Provision -- (1,841) 

Net deferred tax income (2,754) 870 

9.3 Deferred tax benefit / (charge) arising from temporary differences, tax losses or unused tax credits 

Sources of deferred tax benefit/charge 

 

Current 

Period 

 

Prior 

Period 

Arising from Origination (+)/ Reversal (-) of Deductable Temporary Differences (6,555) (3,109) 

Arising from Origination (-)/ Reversal (+) of Taxable Temporary Differences 2,407 1,280 

Arising from Origination (+)/ Reversal (-) of Tax Losses 1,394 4,540 

Arising from Origination (+)/ Reversal (-) of Unused Tax Credits -- -- 

Total (2,754) 2,711 

Provision -- (1,841) 

Net deferred tax income (2,754) 870 

10. Information on continuing and discontinued operations net profit/loss  

  Current Period Prior Period  

Continuing and discontinued operations profit before tax 7,941  (15,512)  

Tax provisions for continuing and discontinued operations (2,754) 870 

Continuing and discontinued operations profit/loss 5,187 (14,642) 

  11.        Information on net profit and loss 

11.1 The nature and amount of certain income and expense items from ordinary operations is disclosed 

if the disclosure for nature, amount and repetition rate of such items is required for the complete 

understanding of the Bank's performance for the period 

In the current and prior periods, the Bank's income from ordinary banking transactions is interest 

income from loans and marketable securities and other banking service income. Core expense 

resources are interest expense of deposits and similar debt items which are funding  resources of 

loans and marketable securities. The size and frequency of none of those items are important to make 

additional explanations. 
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11.2 Changes in estimations made by the Bank with respect to the financial statement items do not have 

a material effect on profit/loss. 

11.3 Because there is no minority share in shareholders’ equity, there is no profit or loss from minority 

shares.  

12. If “other” lines of the income statement exceeds 10% of the period profit/loss, information on 

components making up at least 20% of “other” items 

The balance of the “Other Fees and Commissions Received” in the Bank’s current year income 

statement is 10,904 TL (31 December 2010: 4,646 TL), 6,994 TL of this balance is composed of the 

intermediary commission income. 

V. Explanations and disclosures related to statements of changes in shareholders’ equity 

1. Information on inflation adjustment difference of shareholders' equity 

Per the circular issued by the BRSA on 28 April 2005 and the decision of BRSA No: 1623 on 21 

April 2005, the inflation accounting applied in banking system has been decided to be ceased as at 1 

January 2005. 

 

In accordance with the circular, 17,416 TL inflation adjustments to paid-in-capital until 31 December 

2005 have been transferred to “Other Capital Reserves” account which was formerly recognized in 

“Inflation Adjustment to Paid-in-Capital” account. 

 

2. Information on profit distribution: 

None. 
 

3. Information on foreign exchange difference: 

None. 
 

4. Information on available for sale financial assets 

The arise of changes in the available sale of financial assets of profits/loss  relating with the 

collection of money, the sale of asset and sacrified situations does not in the income statement; it is 

recognised as Securities İncrement Value Fund under the shareholder’s equity. 
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VI. Explanations and disclosures related to the statement of cash flow  

1. Information on cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents components and accounting policies defining these components: 

 

Cash, foreign currency storage, money on road, purchased bank cheques and deposits in all banks 

including Central Bank of Turkey are defined as "Cash", interbank money market placements with 

original maturity less than 3 months and investments on smarketable securities are defined as " Cash 

equivalents". 

 

In the current period, 4,555 TL restricted demand account held in banks abroad due to derivative 

transactions and statury reserves in Central Bank of Turkey are not included as cash equivalent assets 

(31 December 2010:  14,273 TL). 

 

a)  Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period: 

 
  31 December 2010 31 December 2009 

Cash 13,738 9,297 

Banks and other financial institutions 64,455 220,479 

Total cash and cash equivalents assets 78,193 229,776 

 
b)  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period: 

 

 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 2010  

Cash 16,104 13,738 

Banks and other financial institutions 115,750 64,455 

Borrowings from Money Markets (6,827) -- 

Total cash and cash equivalents assets 125,027 78,193 

 

2. Information on cash and cash equivalent assets of the Bank that is not available for free use 

due to legal restrictions or other reasons 

 

None. 

3. Information on other item in cash flow statement and the effect of the exchange rate change on 

cash and cash equivalents 

“Other items” amounting to (30,554) TL in Operating profit before changes in operating assets and 

liabilities” consists of other operating expenses and realized derivative losses (31 December 2010:  

(18,846) TL). 

“Net increase/decrease in other assets” amounting to (141) TL in “Changes in operating assets and 

liabilities” consists of changes in sundry debtors, other receivables (31 December 2010: 765 TL). 

 “Net increase/decrease in other liabilities” amounting to 10,329 TL in “Changes in operating assets 

and liabilities” consists of changes in sundry creditors, taxes and due payables, other liabilities (31 

December 2010: (2,629) TL). 

Investment activities arised from net cash flow including “Other” account of (5,717) consists of 

intangible assets (31 December 2010: (1,060) TL). 
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3. Information on other item in cash flow statement and the effect of the exchange rate change on 

cash and cash equivalents (continued) 

The “Other” account amounting 101,650 TL  under “ Financing activities arised from cash flow” 

consists of the capital advance transferred to the Bank per decision of the board of directors for the 

increase of  41,000,000 Euro paid in capital which has not been registered as at the balance sheet 

date. 

The change effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents are shown in foreign exchange 

transactions profit/loss account. That gain/loss is shown in cash flow statement as "the effect of 

exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents". 

VII. Explanations and disclosures on the risk group of the Bank  

1.  Information on the volume of transactions with the Bank’s risk group, lending and deposits 

outstanding at period end and income and expenses in the current period 

1.1 Current Period  

 

Bank’s Risk Group (*) 

Associates,  

Subsidiaries and  

Joint-Ventures 

Bank's Direct and 

Indirect 

Shareholder 

Other Real Persons 

and Legal Entities in 

Risk Group 

Cash Non-Cash Cash Non-Cash Cash Non-Cash 

Loans and Other Receivables (**)       

Balance at the Beginning of the 

Period -- -- -- -- -- 450  

Balance at the End of the Period 

(***) -- -- 9,857  10,847  -- 999  

Interest and Commission Income 

Received -- -- 10  3  -- --  

               (*) Described in 49. Article of the Banking Act: No: 5411 

               (**) Described in 48. Article of the Banking Act: No: 5411, including the credit of all transactions. 

               (***) Including the Bank’s Risk Group and the balances of banks. 

 

Prior Period 

Bank’s Risk Group (*) 

Associates, 

 Subsidiaries and  

Joint-Ventures 

Bank's Direct and 

 Indirect 

 Shareholder 

Other Real Persons 

and Legal Entities in 

Risk Group 

Cash Non-Cash Cash Non-Cash Cash Non-Cash 

Balance at the Beginning of the 

Period 

      

Balance at the End of the Period -- -- 207 792 1,002 811 

Interest and Commission Income 

Received -- -- -- -- -- 450 

Balance at the Beginning of the 

Period -- -- 18 -- -- -- 

 

Before Credit Europe N.V. , Risk group of BCP: 

Commission and Interest Income 

Received: -- -- -- -- 117 18 

  * Described in 49. Article of the Banking Act: No: 5411. 
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1.2 Information on deposits to the Bank’s risk group 

Bank’s Risk Group (*) 

Associates, 

Subsidiaries and 

Joint-Ventures 

Bank's Direct and 

Indirect Shareholder 

Other Real Persons 

and Legal Entities in 

Risk Group 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Deposits       

Balance at the Beginning of the Period -- -- 113,864  213,554 -- -- 

Balance at the End of the Period -- -- 379  113,864 94,824  -- 

Deposit Interest Expense -- -- 1,235 51 1,975 -- 

Before Credit Europe N.V. , Risk group of BCP: 

Deposit Interest Expense -- --             -- 1,166 -- -- 

(*) Described in 49. Article of the Banking Act: No: 5411. 

1.3 Information on forward and option agreements and similar agreements made with DFS Group’s      

risk group 

Bank’s Risk Group (*) 

Associates, 

Subsidiaries and  

Joint-Ventures 

Bank's Direct and 

Indirect Shareholder 

Other Real Persons 

and Legal Entities 

in Risk Group 

Curren

t Period 

Prior 

Period 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period(**) 

Current 

Period 

Prior 

Period 

Transactions for Trading Purposes: 

      

  Balance at the Beginning of the 

Period -- -- 757,317  857,632  -- -- 

  Balance at the End of the Period -- -- 3,401,356  757,317  -- -- 

  Total Income/Loss -- -- 1,147 149 -- -- 

Transactions for Hedging Purposes:       

  Balance at the Beginning of the 

Period -- -- --  940,641  -- -- 

  Balance at the End of the Period -- -- --  --  -- -- 

  Total Income/Loss -- -- --  -- -- -- 

 (*) As described in the Article 49 of Banking Act no.5411. 

(**) Profit/loss of financial derivative transactions to BCP Risk Group, previous main shareholder, is (7,131 TL ). 

2.  Information on transactions with the Bank’s risk group 

2.1 Relations with entities in the risk group of / or controlled by the Bank regardless of the nature of 

relationship among the parties  

The terms of related party transactions are equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length transactions 

only if such terms can be substantiated regarding the limits exposed by the Banking Act. Adopted 

Bank policy is that assets and liabilities will not be dominated by the risk group and the balances with 

the risk group will have a reasonable share in the total balance sheet. 

2.2 In addition to the structure of the relationship, type of transaction, amount, and share in total 

transaction volume, amount of significant items, and share in all items, pricing policy and other 
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As of 31 December 2011, the loans and other receivables used by the entities of risk group represents 

0.4% of assets and the deposits of entities of risk group represents 3.8% of assets. 

 

 

 

2.3 Total of similar type of transactions together, unless a separate disclosure is required to present 

the effect of the transactions on financial statements 

None. 

2.4 Transactions accounted for under equity method 

None. 

2.5 Explanations on purchase and sale of real estate and other assets, sales and purchases of services, 

agency contracts, finance lease agreements, transfer of data obtained from research and 

development, licensing agreements, financing (including loans and cash and in-kind capital 

support), guarantees and promissory notes, and management contracts 

None.  

VIII. Explanations on the Bank’s domestic, foreign, off-shore branches or investments in 

associates and foreign representative offices          

1. Information related to the Bank’s domestic and foreign branch and representatives 

 Number 
Number of 

Employees 

Domestic Branch 21 438 

   
Country of 

Incorporations 

Foreign 

Representative 

Offices 

  1- 

   2- 

   3- 

    Total Assets 
Statutory  

Share Capital 

Foreign Branch   1-   

   2-   

   3-   

Off-shore Banking 

Region Branches 
  1-   

   2-   

   3-   

 

IX. Events after the Reporting Period 

As of 20 September 2011, the Bank has taken a decision to increase its paid in capital by 41,000,000 

Euro in terms of TL equivalent. The first tranche of the related increase, was  transferred to the Bank 

on 10 October 2011 as 52,250 TL; the second tranche was transferred on 1 December 2011 as 49,400 

TL. As of  31 December 2011, such amounts are paid in capital is accounted under the “Sundry 

Creditors”. Following the approval of BRSA, the extraordinary General Assembly was held on 26 

January 2012 and the increase in paid in capital was registered. Therefore, the Bank’s capital has 

increased to 426,650 TL. 
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On 2 December 2011, the Bank has been given permission by the BRSA for the purpose of issuing 

bond with a maturity up to 360-days and 150,000 TL limit. The offering circular has been approved 

by the Capital Market Board on 10 January 2012 and it has been registered to the Istanbul Trade 

Register Office on 19 January 2012. 

 

 

 

 

SECTION SIX 

OTHER EXPLANATIONS RELATED TO THE BANK’S OPERATIONS  

None. 

 

SECTION SEVEN 

EXPLANATIONS ON THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

I. Explanations on the independent auditors’ report 

The financial statements and disclosures of the Bank were audited by DRT Bağımsız Denetim ve 

Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. (member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited) and the 

audit report dated 6 February 2012 present fairly in all material respects the financial position of 

Fibabanka A.Ş. for the year ended 31 December 2011 in accordance with the prevailing accounting 

principles and standards set out as per the Article No: 37 of the Banking Act No: 5411, and other 

regulations, communiqués and circulars in respect of accounting and financial reporting and 

pronouncements made by Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency. 

 

II. Other footnotes and explanations prepared by the independent auditors  

None. 

 

 

 

 

 


